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2012 HIGHLIGHTS

(in thousands of dollars except gross margin percentage and EPS) 2012 2011 2010

Sales $ 293,400 $ 309,259 $ 286,455 

Gross Margins  166,168  178,309  166,973 

Gross Margin %

Pre-Tax Earnings  81,840  108,346  90,275 

Net Earnings  59,956  78,259  61,481 

Diluted EPS 0.81 1.04 0.83 

PROFITABILITY INNOVATION ENDURANCE MOMENTUM

"32 Consecutive  
Profitable Quarters"

Industry Leading  
Pre-Tax Profit

Re-investment of Sales  
in R&D

"$1 Billion Market Value"
Net Cash & Equivalents

Record Purchase Order 
Backlog & Shipments

28% 15% $186M $87M
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QUARTERLY DIVIDEND HIsTORY

¢ Per Share Yield %

OPERATING REsULTs
Year ended April 30, 2012

57% 58% 58%
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A lEttEr to fEllow shArEholdErs

Over the past several years, Evertz has emerged as one of the largest pure players in the broadcast media technology 
sector as it coalesces with IP-video and adjusts to the ongoing divestment and sale activities of multiple participants.

In Fiscal 2012, the global economic environment remained tense, impacted by the European sovereign debt 
contagion and the unfolding of political turmoil in the Middle East and North Africa. During this period, Evertz 
succeeded in generating record international sales. We continued to deliver industry leading profitability while 
expanding our market through growth of our product portfolio and increased channel presence and market reach. 
Highlights from the year include:

• Sales over $293 million;

• International sales increase of 5% to a record $144 million;

• Earnings before taxes of $82 million;

• Annual investment in research and development increased 24%;

• Our dedicated staff grew to 1,097;

• Year-end net cash and instruments held for trading of $186 million; and

• Repurchase of over 2 million common shares and a 17% increase in quarterly cash dividends to 14¢ per share.

drivEn BY dEmAnd for morE hd contEnt And tv AnYwhErE, AnYtimE
Today our customers’ evolving needs are driven by an unsatiated global demand for more high-definition television 
channels and by an increasing consumer appetite for high quality video delivered anywhere, anytime across a broad 
array of devices “TV Everywhere”. Evertz technologically superior solutions provide compelling advantages which 
enable our broadcast, cable, telco, IPTV, satellite and content creator customers to address this increasingly complex 
video landscape and to implement the multi-screen TV Everywhere services of the future. 

lEAding BY innovAtion
Evertz positive outlook is reinforced by our long standing 
commitment and investment in the internal development 
of new leading edge technologies and in the recruitment 
of talented individuals. In fact, during the past year 
alone, Evertz has increased our annual investment in 
R&D by 24% to over $44 million. The annual investments 
fueled our high paced development activities within 
our core product portfolio and also funded additional 
intensive longer term R&D initiatives, such as Evertz 
Advanced Optical Multi-Service Transport Platform, our 
IT-based architecture and Evertz Compression & Media 
Transport solutions. These initiatives are establishing 
new benchmarks for performance and operational 
efficiency for our customers and have significantly 
expanded Evertz addressable market.

In April 2012, we again expanded our solution breadth 
and market with the introduction of another such R&D 
initiative, Evertz award winning Dreamcatcher, the 
next generation of live slow motion replay for sports 
broadcast and studio production.

r&d invEstmEnts ovEr 5 YEArs
$ millions

18.6

28.7
32.0

35.7

44.2
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AwArdS & ACHIEVEMEnTS
Recognition for Evertz leadership commitment to innovation was exemplified this past year through several awards including:

TV Technology Europe - 2011 STAr (Superior Technology Award recipient) Award to 
MAGnUM VUE. MAGNUM VUE is a user customizable graphical interface that unifies the 
control of various elements from a single point of control. MAGNUM VUE’s user friendly, 
touch screen enabled interface provides flexible and reliable control across all broadcast 
operations allowing users to integrate the control of routing systems, multi-viewers, 
master control and branding engines, infrastructure equipment, and more to reduce 
complexity for the operator and increase productivity.

TV Technology - 2012 STAr Award to Dreamcatcher. The STAR Awards are designed 
to celebrate and showcase the preeminent technological innovations available to the 
media industry today. Dreamcatcher is the next generation of live slow motion replay. 
Dreamcatcher’s superior editing technology along with its highly scalable and flexible 
system architecture enables the most reliable and precise slo-mo replays in the industry. 
It’s flexible design and intuitive graphical user interface offers amazing new visualization 
tools for managing all media.

Broadcast Engineering - 2012 Pick Hit Award to Evertz 7812 Conversion Platform. 
The Pick Hit award recognizes innovative products and technology that will technically 
and financially improve a facility’s operation. The 7812 Platform executes broadcast 
quality up/down/cross conversions between common standard definition and high 
definition video signals.

Evertz was named one of Canada’s 50 Best Managed Companies, which recognizes 
excellence in Canadian-owned and Canadian-managed companies. Canada’s 50 Best 
Managed Companies identifies Canadian corporate success through companies focused 
on their core vision, creating stakeholder value and excelling in the global economy.

FoUndATIon For GrowTH 
In this changing environment, we stand with great opportunity as a company built upon a long term vision of 
generating value through continuous investment in our comprehensive technology portfolio, maintaining strict 
operating discipline and expanding the reach of our international sales channels. 

We generate significant cash from operations and have built a solid balance sheet, with total assets of $432 million 
at the end of fiscal 2012, including approximately $186 million in cash and equivalents. We view these strengths as 
a competitive advantage, providing financial flexibility and allowing us to provide significant value to our shareholders 
via our share repurchase program and the continued payment of quarterly dividends, while adhering to our strategy of 
investment into new technologies.
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EXPAndInG MArKET & MoMEnTUM
Our 2013 plan is to accelerate the market penetration of the new technologies we have invested heavily in for the past 
several years. Evertz will leverage the newly developed technologies of:

• IT-based solutions in station group central-cast;

• ATP Multi-Service Transport in next generation converged networks;

• Evertz Compression & Media solutions; and 

• Dreamcatcher in sports slow motion replay. 

These technologies provide superior leading edge solutions to enable our broadcast, cable, telco, satellite and content 
creator customers to address and implement the multi-screen TV Everywhere services of the future. 

We are pleased with the significant developments in new products and we are excited about entering fiscal 2013 with 
significant momentum, evidenced by the highest combined purchase order backlog and monthly shipment total in the 
Company’s history. As one of the largest pure players in our technology sector, we believe Evertz is poised for continued 
long term success. 

We would like to take this opportunity to thank our employees, channel partners, customers and shareholders for their 
ongoing support and we look forward to an exciting, successful future.

romolo Magarelli 
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer

douglas A. deBruin 
Director, Chairman of the Board of Directors
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis
For the Year ended April 30, 2012

THE FOLLOWING MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS IS A REVIEW OF RESULTS OF THE OPERATIONS AND THE 

LIqUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES OF THE COMPANY. IT SHOULD BE READ IN CONjUNCTION WITH THE SELECTED 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND OTHER DATA AND THE COMPANY’S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

AND THE ACCOMPANYING NOTES CONTAINED ON SEDAR. THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANY 

ARE PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS”) AND ARE PRESENTED 

IN CANADIAN DOLLARS. THE FISCAL YEAR OF THE COMPANY ENDS ON APRIL 30 OF EACH YEAR. CERTAIN INFORMATION 

CONTAINED HEREIN IS FORWARD-LOOkING AND BASED UPON ASSUMPTIONS AND ANTICIPATED RESULTS THAT ARE SUBjECT 

TO RISkS, UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS. SHOULD ONE OR MORE OF THESE UNCERTAINTIES MATERIALIzE OR SHOULD 

THE UNDERLYING ASSUMPTIONS PROVE INCORRECT, ACTUAL RESULTS MAY VARY SIGNIFICANTLY FROM THOSE ExPECTED.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
The report contains forward-looking statements reflecting Evertz’s objectives, estimates and expectations. Such 
forward-looking statements use words such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “believe”, “anticipate”, “plan”, “intend”, 
“project”, “continue” and other similar terminology of a forward-looking nature or negatives of those terms.

Although management of the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements 
are reasonable, all forward-looking statements address matters that involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties 
and other factors. Accordingly, there are or will be a number of significant factors which could cause the Company’s 
actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results to be materially different from any future results, 
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.

The report is based on information available to management on May 18, 2012.

OVERVIEW
Evertz is a leading equipment provider to the television broadcast industry. Founded in 1966, Evertz designs, 
manufactures and distributes video and audio infrastructure equipment for the production, post-production, and 
transmission of television content. The Company’s solutions are purchased by content creators, broadcasters, specialty 
channels and television service providers to enable and enhance the transition to a complex multi-channel digital 
and HDTV broadcast environment. The Company’s equipment allows customers to generate additional revenue while 
reducing costs through the more efficient distribution and management of content as well as the automation of 
previously manual processes.

The Company’s growth strategy is based on capitalizing on its strong customer position and innovative integrated 
product line. The Company’s financial objectives are to achieve profitable growth with our existing customers and with 
new customers who were converting to HDTV, building out IPTV infrastructures, or in need of advanced video solutions.

Our plan is to bring to market the new technologies that we have invested heavily in for the past several years. These 
technologically superior solutions help to enable our broadcast, cable, telco, satellite and content creator customers to 
address and implement their video infrastructure requirements.

Our broadcast customers continue to operate in a challenging economic environment which impacts their ability to 
incur capital expenditures and often results in projects being scaled back or postponed to later periods.

While it does appear that industry conditions are showing some improvement. In certain geographical areas it is 
unclear what the time frame will be for our customers to convert this to equipment purchases.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Canadian Accounting Standards Board requires Canadian publicly accountable enterprises to adopt IFRS in 2011 
to replace Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). Accordingly, the financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS, with a transition date of May 1, 2010 to allow for comparative financial information. 
Financial information disclosed in this MD&A for periods ending prior to May 1, 2010 has not been restated. 
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The Company’s IFRS conversion plan was comprehensive and addressed matters including staff training, changes in 
accounting policies, restatement of comparative periods, internal controls and procedures, disclosure controls, and 
business activities in general. The changeover to IFRS did not result in a material impact to the Company’s business 
functions and activities including internal controls and procedures. 

Although IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is similar to Canadian GAAP, there are differences in recognition, 
measurement and disclosure. The “First Time Adoption of IFRS” section of this MD&A provides a summary of the 
transitional exemptions and elections taken by the Company, as well as relevant differences in accounting policies 
between Canadian GAAP and IFRS. 

The note also provides reconciliations of assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity and net earnings for specified periods 
previously prepared under Canadian GAAP to that under IFRS. The information provided in this MD&A and in the 
financial statements with respect to the transition to IFRS reflects current views, assumptions and expectations.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant:

Basis of Measurement
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and 
liabilities which are stated at fair value. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in 
exchange for assets.

Functional and Presentation Currency 
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial 
information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

Basis of Consolidation
These financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are included in the consolidated statements of earnings and 
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-Company transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is measured 
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of acquisition, of assets transferred, liabilities incurred or assumed, 
and equity instruments issued by the Company. The acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities assumed are 
recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in earnings as incurred. 
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value on date of the acquisition and is included as part of the 
consideration transferred. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is re-measured at each reporting date 
with corresponding gain/loss recognized in earnings. The excess of the consideration over the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill.

On an acquisition by acquisition basis, any non-controlling interest is measured either at the fair value of the non-
controlling interest or at the fair value of the proportionate share of the net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill 
arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis (CONT’D)

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of discounts and after eliminating 
intercompany sales.

Where revenue arrangements have separately identifiable components, the consideration received or receivable is 
allocated to each identifiable component and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the 
components.

Revenue is derived from the sale of hardware and software solutions including related services, training and 
commissioning. Revenue from sales of hardware and software are recognized upon shipment, provided that the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, the Company retains neither 
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the 
goods sold, revenue can be reliably measured and its probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company. 
Service revenue is recognized as services are performed. 

Certain of the Company’s contracts are long-term in nature. When the outcome of the contract can be assessed 
reliably, the Company recognizes revenue on long-term contracts using the percentage of completion method, based 
on costs incurred relative to the estimated total contract costs. When the outcome of the contract cannot be assessed 
reliably contract costs incurred are immediately expensed and revenue is recognized only to the extent that costs are 
considered likely to be recovered.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount 
of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in the bank, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, work in progress and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes raw materials, the cost of direct 
labour applied to the product and the overhead expense. 

Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and 
costs necessary to make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss. 
Where the costs of certain components of an item of property, plant and equipment are significant in relation to the 
total cost of the item, they are accounted for and depreciated separately. Depreciation expense is calculated based on 
depreciable amounts which is the cost of an asset less residual value and is recognized in earnings on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset. Borrowing costs are capitalized to the cost of qualifying assets 
that take a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use.
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The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset Basis Rate
Office furniture and equipment Straight-line 10 years
Research and development equipment Straight-line 5 years
Machinery and equipment Straight-line 5 - 15 years
Leaseholds Straight-line 5 years
Building Straight-line 10 - 40 years
Airplanes Straight-line 10 - 20 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in earnings.

The Company reviews the residual value, estimated useful life and the depreciation method at each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may be more than its recoverable amount. At each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying 
amounts of its other non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent from other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) 
to which the asset belongs. Goodwill is allocated to a group of CGU’s based on the level at which it is monitored for 
internal reporting purposes.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss relating to a CGU to which goodwill has 
been allocated, is allocated to the carrying amount of the goodwill first. An impairment loss is recognized immediately 
in earnings.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses for other 
non-financial assets, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognized immediately in earnings.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets
Intangibles assets represent intellectual property acquired through business acquisitions and are recorded at cost less 
any impairment loss and are amortized using the straight–line method over a four–year period. The estimated useful 
life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Research and development
All research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred unless a development project meets the criteria 
for capitalization. Development expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the 
product of process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Company 
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis (CONT’D)

intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. No internally generated 
intangible assets have been recognized to date.

Research and development expenditures are reduced by investment tax credits and related government grants. 
Investment tax credits for scientific research and experimental development are recognized in the period the qualifying 
expenditures are incurred if there is reasonable assurance that they will be realized.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Company at their fair value or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the Statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Foreign Currency Translation
The individual financial statements of each subsidiary entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements, the results and financial position of each group entity are presented in Canadian dollars (‘CDN’), which is 
the functional currency of the parent Company and the presentation currency for the financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences are recognized in earnings in the period in which they arise. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign 
operations are expressed in Canadian dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. 
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Foreign currency gains and 
losses are recognized in other comprehensive income. The relevant amount in cumulative foreign currency translation 
adjustment is reclassified into earnings upon disposition or partial disposition of a foreign operation and attributed to 
non-controlling interests as appropriate.

Income Taxes
Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net earnings as reported in 
the statement of earnings because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years 
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and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date. 

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on unused tax losses and credits, as well as differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases 
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which unused tax losses, credits and other deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and 
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realized. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is charged or credited to earnings, except when it relates to 
items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 
with in other comprehensive income or equity.

Share Based Compensation
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-
based transactions are set out in note 16 of the financial statements.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period of the option based on the Company’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will eventually vest. At each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in earnings such that the 
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share based payment reserve. 

Earnings per Share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the net earnings attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the net earnings attributable to shareholders and 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares, 
which is comprised of share options granted to employees with an exercise price below the average market price.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in earnings in the period in which they are incurred.

Investment Tax Credits
The Company is entitled to investment tax credits, which are earned as a percentage of eligible research and 
development expenditures incurred in each taxation year. Investment tax credits relate entirely to the Company’s 
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis (CONT’D)

research and development expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings but are presented separately in the 
consolidated statement of earnings for information purposes. Investment tax credits are recognized when there is 
reasonable assurance they will be received.

Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities which are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured 
based on their assigned classifications as follows:

Asset/liability category measurement

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortized cost
Instruments held for trading Fair value through profit or loss Fair value
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost
Trade and other payables Other liabilities Amortized cost
Current portion of long term debt Other liabilities Amortized cost
Long term debt Other liabilities Amortized cost
Contingent consideration Fair value through profit or loss Fair value

Financial Assets
All financial assets are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets 
classified as fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specific categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit 
or loss” (FVTPL), “held-to-maturity” investments, “available-for-sale” (AFS) financial assets and “loans and 
receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized 
in earnings.

Transaction costs in respect of financial instruments are fair value through profit or loss are recognized in earnings 
immediately. Transaction costs in respect of other financial instruments are included in the initial measurement of the 
financial instrument.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting period. 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
affected. For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade and other receivables, assets that are assessed 
not to be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence 
of impairment of a financial asset can include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an asset, 
default or delinquency by a debtor, indication that a debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organization or the 
disappearance of an active market for a security.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognized in earnings.
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Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized 
in earnings. The net gain or loss recognized in earnings incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is 
included in the “other income and expenses” line item in the consolidated statements of earnings.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities, including long term debt, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other 
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognized on an effective yield basis.

Use of Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. 
Consequently, actual results could differ from those estimates. Those estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate 
is revised and in any future periods affected. Significant estimates include the determination of the allowance for 
doubtful accounts for trade receivables, provision for inventory obsolescence, the useful life of property, plant and 
equipment for depreciation, amortization and evaluation of net recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, 
determination of fair value for share-based compensation, evaluating deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the 
determination of fair value of financial instruments and the likelihood of recoverability determination of implied fair 
value of goodwill and implied fair value of assets and liabilities for purchase price allocation purposes and goodwill 
impairment test purposes. 

Significant items requiring the use of judgment in application of accounting policies and assumptions include the 
determination of the Canadian dollar as the functional currency, classification of financial instruments, classification 
of leases, application of the percentage of completion method on long-term contracts, degree of componentization 
applied when calculating amortization of property, plant and equipment, and identification of cash generating units 
for impairment testing purposes.

Operating Segments
An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Company’s 
other components. The Company reviewed its operations and determined that it operates a single reportable 
segment, the television broadcast equipment market. The single reportable operating segment derives its revenue 
from the sale of hardware and software solutions including related services, training and commissioning.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are 
classified as held for sale and are not depreciated. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets 
are remeasured in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies. The assets are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and 
subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss. Gains are not recognized in excess of 
any cumulative impairment loss.

NEW AND REVISED IFRSs ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
Following is a listing of amendments, revisions and new International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued 
but not effective until annual periods beginning after May 1, 2012. Unless otherwise indicated, earlier application 
is permitted.
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis (CONT’D)

Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB on November 12, 2009 and will replace IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine 
whether a financial asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The 
approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business 
model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single 
impairment method to be used, replacing the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after january 1, 2015. The Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 9 on its 
financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) establishes principles for the presentation and preparation 
of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 replaces the 
consolidation requirements in SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and IAS 27, Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements. IFRS 10 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The 
Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 10 on its financial statements.

Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”) provides a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the 
rights and obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form as is currently the case. IFRS 11 replaces SIC-13, 
Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contribution by Venturers and IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures. IFRS 
11 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The Company has not yet determined the 
impact of IFRS 11 on its financial statements.

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”) is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure 
requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
unconsolidated structured entities. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The 
Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 12 on its financial statements.

Fair Value Measurements
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements (“IFRS 13”) provides new guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements. IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The Company has not yet 
determined the impact of IFRS 13 on its financial statements.

Income Taxes
The amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) relate to the measurement of deferred taxes for investment 
property carried at fair value. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2012. The 
Company has not yet determined the impact of the changes to IAS 12 on its financial statements.

Presentation of Financial Statements
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”), which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after july 1, 2012, are to be applied retroactively. The amendments require that an entity present 
separately the items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those 
that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The Company has not yet determined the impact of the changes to 
IAS 1 on its financial statements.

YEAR END HIGHLIGHTS
Revenue decreased by 5% for the year ended April 30, 2012 when compared to the same period ended April 30, 2011. 

Net earnings for the year ended April 30, 2012 were $60.0 million as compared to $78.3 million for the year ended 
April 30, 2011, a decrease of 24%. Fully-diluted earnings per share were $0.81 for the year ended April 30, 2012 as 
compared to $1.04 for the year ended April 30, 2011. 
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Gross margin during the year ended April 30, 2012 was 56.6% as compared to 57.7% for the year ended April 30, 2011.

Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended April 30, 2012 was $47.1 million compared to the year ended 
April 30, 2011 of $37.6 million. As a percentage of revenue, selling and administrative expenses totaled 16.1% for the 
year ended April 30, 2012 as opposed to 12.1% for the year ended April 30, 2011.

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses increased by $8.5 million or approximately 24% compared to the year 
ended April 30, 2011. 

Cash and instruments held for trading were $185.7 million and working capital was $325.7 million as at April 30, 
2012 as compared to cash and instruments held for trading of $192.0 million and working capital of $326.0 million 
as at April 30, 2011.

sELECTED CONsOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(in thousands of dollars except earnings per share and share data)

Year Ended April 30,

2012 2011 2010

Revenue $ 293,400 $ 309,259 $ 286,455 
Cost of goods sold  127,232  130,950  119,482 
Gross margin  166,168  178,309  166,973 
Expenses
   Selling and administrative  47,118  37,583  36,118 
   General  6,788  6,680  9,197 
   Research and development  44,200  35,719  32,026 
   Investment tax credits  (9,872)  (8,410)  (8,270)
   Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (2,342)  2,592  7,969 

 85,892  74,164  77,040 
 80,276  104,145  89,933 

Finance income  1,915  1,080  636 
Finance costs  (197)  (187)  (276)
Other income and expenses  (154)  3,308  (18)
Earnings before income taxes  81,840  108,346  90,275 
Provision for income taxes
   Current  21,669  29,207  24,391 
   Deferred  215  880  4,403 

 21,884  30,087  28,794 
Net earnings for the year $ 59,956 $ 78,259 $ 61,481 

Net earnings attributable to non-controlling interest  416  545  (21)
Net earnings attributable to shareholders  59,540  77,714  61,502 
Net earnings for the year $ 59,956 $ 78,259 $ 61,481 

Earnings per share
Basic $ 0.81 $ 1.05 $ 0.84 
Diluted $ 0.81 $ 1.04 $ 0.83 
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MAnAGEMEnT’S dISCUSSIon And AnALySIS (CONT’D)

sELECTED CONsOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
Consolidated BalanCe sheet data

As at April 30, 

2012 2011 2010*

Cash and instruments held for trading $  185,669 $ 192,025 $  145,029 
Inventory  109,211  106,422  91,745 
Working capital  325,677  326,029  264,161 
Total assets  431,864  410,511  345,787 
Shareholders' equity  378,417  372,209  312,169 

Number of common shares outstanding:
   Basic  73,225,786  74,470,606  73,607,506 
   Fully-diluted  77,904,086  78,577,206  77,703,006 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
   Basic  73,612,759  73,989,997  73,324,244 
   Fully-diluted  73,812,767  74,879,139  74,223,642 

*financial data prior to May 1, 2010, the date of transition to IFRS, is presented under Canadian GAAP.
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sELECTED CONsOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA 
(in thousands of dollars except earnings per share and share data)

2012 2011 2010*

Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of goods sold 43.4% 42.3% 41.7%
Gross margin 56.6% 57.7% 58.3%
Expenses
   Selling and administrative 16.1% 12.1% 12.6%
   General 2.3% 2.2% 3.2%
   Research and development 15.1% 11.6% 11.2%
   Investment tax credits (3.3%) (2.7%) (2.9%)
   Foreign exchange (gain) loss (0.8%) 0.8% 2.8%

29.4% 24.0% 26.9%
27.2% 33.7% 31.4%

Finance income 0.7% 0.3% 0.1%
Finance costs (0.0%) (0.1%) (0.0%)
Other income and expenses (0.0%) 1.1% (0.0%)
Earnings before income taxes 27.9% 35.0% 31.5%

Provision for (recovery) of income taxes
   Current 7.4% 9.4% 8.5%
   Deferred 0.1% 0.3% 1.5%

7.5% 9.7% 10.0%

Net earnings for the period 20.4% 25.3% 21.5%

Net earnings attributable to non-controlling interest 0.1% 0.2% 0.0%
Net earnings attributable to shareholders 20.3% 25.1% 21.5%
Net earnings for the period 20.4% 25.3% 21.5%

Earnings per share:
   Basic $ 0.81 $ 1.05 $ 0.84 
   Diluted $ 0.81 $  1.04 $ 0.83 

*financial data prior to May 1, 2010, the date of transition to IFRS, is presented under Canadian GAAP.

REVENUE AND EXPENsEs
REVENUE
The Company generates revenue principally from the sale of its broadcast equipment solutions to content creators, 
broadcasters, specialty channels and television service providers. 

The Company markets and sells its products and services through both direct and indirect sales strategies. The 
Company’s direct sales efforts focus on large and complex end-user customers. These customers have long sales 
cycles typically ranging from four to eight months before an order may be received by the Company for fulfillment.
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis (CONT’D)

The Company monitors revenue performance in two main geographic regions: (i) United States/Canada and (ii) 
International.

The Company currently generates approximately 45% to 55% of its revenue in the United States/Canada.  The 
Company recognizes the opportunity to more aggressively target markets in other geographic regions and intends to 
invest in personnel and infrastructure in those markets.

While a significant portion of the Company’s expenses are denominated in Canadian dollars, the Company collects 
substantially all of its revenues in currencies other than the Canadian dollar and therefore has significant exposure to 
fluctuations in foreign currencies, in particular the US dollar. Approximately 65-75% of the Company’s revenues are 
denominated in US dollars.

REVENUE

Year Ended April 30,

(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2010

United States/Canada $  149,884 $ 172,110 $ 154,000 
International  143,516  137,149  132,455 

$ 293,400 $ 309,259 $ 286,455 

Total revenue for the year ended April 30, 2012 was $293.4 million, a decrease of 5.1% or $15.9 million as compared 
to revenue of $309.3 million for the year ended April 30, 2011.

Revenue in the United States/Canada region decreased to $149.9 million for the year ended April 30, 2012, a 
decrease of 12.9% or $22.2 million as compared to revenue of $172.1 million for the year ended April 30, 2011.

Revenue in the International region increased to $143.5 million for the year ended April 30, 2012, an increase of 4.6% 
or $6.4 million as compared to revenue of $137.1 million for the year ended April 30, 2011.

Cost of Sales
Cost of sales consists primarily of costs of manufacturing and assembly of products. A substantial portion of these 
costs is represented by components and compensation costs for the manufacture and assembly of products. Cost of 
sales also includes related overhead, certain depreciation, final assembly, quality assurance, inventory management 
and support costs. Cost of sales also includes the costs of providing services to clients, primarily the cost of service-
related personnel.

GROSS MARGIN

Year Ended April 30,

(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2010

Gross margin $ 166,168 $ 178,309 $ 166,973 
Gross margin % of sales 56.6% 57.7% 58.3%

Gross margin for the year ended April 30, 2012 was $166.2 million, compared to $178.3 million for the year ended 
April 30, 2011. As a percentage of revenue, the gross margin was 56.6% for the year ended April 30, 2012, as 
compared to 57.7% for the year ended April 30, 2011.

Gross margins vary depending on the product mix, geographic distribution and competitive pricing pressures. For the 
year ended April 30, 2012 the gross margin, as a percentage of revenue, was in the Company’s projected range. The 
pricing environment continues to be very competitive with substantial discounting by our competition.
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The Company expects that it will continue to experience competitive pricing pressures. The Company continually seeks 
to build its products more efficiently and enhance the value of its product and service offerings in order to reduce the 
risk of declining gross margin associated with the competitive environment.

Operating Expenses
The Company’s operating expenses consist of: (i) selling, administrative and general; (ii) research and development 
and (iii) foreign exchange.

Selling expenses primarily relate to remuneration of sales and technical personnel. Other significant cost components 
include trade show costs, advertising and promotional activities, demonstration material and sales support. Selling 
and administrative expenses relate primarily to remuneration costs of related personnel, legal and professional fees, 
occupancy and other corporate and overhead costs. The Company also records certain depreciation amortization 
and share based compensation charges as general expenses. For the most part, selling, administrative and general 
expenses are fixed in nature and do not fluctuate directly with revenue. The Company’s selling expenses tend to 
fluctuate in regards to the timing of trade shows, sales activity and sales personnel.

The Company invests in research and development to maintain its position in the markets it currently serves and 
to enhance its product portfolio with new functionality and efficiencies. Although the Company’s research and 
development expenditures do not fluctuate directly with revenues, it monitors this spending in relation to revenues 
and adjusts expenditures when appropriate. Research and development expenditures consist primarily of personnel 
costs and material costs. Research and development expenses are presented on a gross basis (without deduction 
of research and development tax credits). Research and development tax credits associated with research and 
development expenditures are shown separately under research and development tax credits.

SELLING AND ADMINISTRATIVE

Year Ended April 30,

(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2010

Selling and administrative $ 47,118 $ 37,583 $ 36,118 
Selling and administrative % of sales 16.1% 12.1% 12.6%

Selling and administrative expenses excludes stock based compensation, operation of non-production property, plant 
and equipment, and amortization of intangibles. Selling and administrative expenses for the year ended April 30, 2012 
were $47.1 million or 16.1% of revenue as compared to selling and administrative expenses of $37.6 million or 12.1% 
of revenue for the year ended April 30, 2011.

The increase of $9.5 million for the year was a result of increased sales staff and sales activity to support International 
sales and new product introductions, inclusion of Pharos for the full year and general overhead increases including bad 
debt expense of $1.3 million.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT (R&D)

Year Ended April 30,

(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011 2010

Research and development expenses $  44,200 $ 35,719 $ 32,026 
Research and development % of sales 15.1% 11.6% 11.2%

For the year ended April 30, 2012, gross R&D expenses increased to $44.2 million, an increase of 23.7% or $8.5 
million as compared to an expense of $35.7 million for the year ended April 30, 2011.

The increase of $8.5 million was predominantly a result of planned growth of R&D personnel, the inclusion of Pharos 
for the full year and the corresponding increase in materials, prototypes and general overhead expenses.
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Foreign Exchange
For the year ended April 30, 2012, the foreign exchange gain was $2.3 million as compared to a foreign exchange loss 
for the same period ended April 30, 2011 of $2.6 million. 

Finance Income, Costs and Other Income
For the year ended April 30, 2012, finance income, costs and other income netted to a gain of $1.6 million.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity and Capital Resources

(in thousands of dollars except ratios) Year Ended April 30,

key Balance Sheet Amounts and Ratios: 2012 2011

Cash and instruments held for trading $ 185,669 $ 192,025 
Working capital $ 325,677 $ 326,029 
Long-term assets $ 59,702 $ 57,318 
Long-term debt $ 1,875 $ 2,493 
Days sales outstanding in accounts receivable  77  62 

Statement of Cash Flow Summary

Year Ended April 30,

2012 2011

Operating activities $ 66,643 $ 73,662 
Investing activities $ (12,079) $ (7,486)
Financing activities $ (56,229) $ (23,401)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and instruments held for trading $ (2,170) $ 42,080 

Operating Activities
For the year ended April 30, 2012, the Company generated cash from operations of $66.6 million, compared to 
$73.7 million for the year ended April 30, 2011. Excluding the effects of the changes in non-cash working capital, 
the Company generated cash from operations of $73.0 million for the year ended April 30, 2012, compared to $88.1 
million for the year ended April 30, 2011.

Investing Activities
The Company used cash from investing activities of $12.1 million for the year ended April 30, 2012 which was 
predominantly the acquisition of capital assets of $16.6 million, compared to cash used of $7.5 million for the year 
ended April 30, 2011.  

Financing Activities
For the year ended April 30, 2012, the Company used cash from financing activities of $56.2 million, which was 
principally driven by a repurchase of capital stock costing $25.9 million, dividends paid of $36.9 million and offset by 
the issuance of capital stock pursuant to the Company Stock Option Plan of $7.6 million.

WORKING CAPITAL
As at April 30, 2012, the Company had cash and instruments held for trading of $185.7 million, compared to $192.0 
million at April 30, 2011.

The Company had working capital of $325.7 million as at April 30, 2012 compared to $326.0 million as at April 30, 2011.
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The Company believes that the current balance in cash and instruments held for trading plus future cash flow from 
operations will be sufficient to finance growth and related investment and financing activities in the foreseeable future.

Day sales outstanding in accounts receivable were 77 days at April 30, 2012 as compared to 62 for April 30, 2011.

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Authorized capital stock consists of an unlimited number of common and preferred shares.

Year Ended April 30,

2012 2011

Common shares 73,225,786 74,470,606
Stock options granted and outstanding 4,678,300 4,106,600

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, instruments held for trading, accounts receivable and accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities and long term debt. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion that the 
Company is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from these financial instruments. The Company 
estimates that except for instruments held for trading, the fair value of these instruments approximate the carrying 
values due to their short-term nature.

Fair values and classification of financial instruments:

The following summarizes the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 
instruments:

I. The fair values of instruments held for trading is maintained level one hierarchy and are determined by the 
quoted market values for each of the investments in an active market at the reporting date. Gains and losses 
are included in interest and other income. 

II. Contingent consideration is level three hierarchy. Liability has not changed since the acquisition. 

III. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, trade and other payables approximate their fair value due 
to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. The carrying amount of long term debt approximates its 
fair value as it incurs interest at a variable rate adjusted for changes in the market rate.

The Company invests in marketable securities that are traded in an active market. Generally the investment is limited 
to no more than 15% of the total cash and instruments held for trading.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The following table sets forth the Company’s contractual obligations as at April 30, 2012:

Payments Due by Period

(In thousands) Total
Less than

1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years  Thereafter 

Operating leases $  21,964 $ 3,560 $ 6,132 $ 5,834 $ 6,438 
Other long-term debt $ 2,276 $ 401 $ 694 $ 382 $ 799 

$ 24,240 $ 3,961 $ 6,826 $ 6,216 $ 7,237 
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET FINANCING
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In the normal course of business, we may enter into transactions with related parties. These transactions occur 
under market terms consistent with the terms of transactions with unrelated arms-length third parties. The Company 
continues to lease a premise from a company in which two shareholders’ each indirectly hold a 10% interest, continues 
to lease a facility from a company in which two shareholders each indirectly hold a 20% interest, continues to lease 
a facility for manufacturing where two shareholders indirectly own 100% interest, continues to lease a facility from a 
company in which two shareholders each indirectly own a 35% interest and continues to lease a facility with a director 
who indirectly owns 100%.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
The following table sets out selected consolidated financial information for each of the eight quarters ended April 
30, 2012. In the opinion of management, this information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited 
consolidated financial statements. The operating results for any quarter should not be relied upon as any indication of 
results for any future period.

quarter Ending

2012 2011 2010

(In thousands) IFRs IFRs IFRs IFRs IFRS IFRS IFRS IFRS
(Unaudited) Apr. 30 Jan. 31 Oct. 31 July 31 Apr. 30 jan. 31 Oct. 31 july 31

Sales $ 76,340 $ 71,445 $ 70,487 $ 75,128 $ 69,043 $ 84,073 $ 82,327 $ 73,816 
Cost of goods  
  sold  33,557 

 
31,283 

 
30,111  32,281  30,055  35,389  34,688 30,818 

Gross margin $ 42,783 $ 40,162 $ 40,376 $ 42,847 $ 38,988 $ 48,684 $ 47,639 $ 42,998 
Operating  
  expenses 25,309 

 
22,805 

 
18,393  19,385  22,955  19,639 16,515 15,056 

Earnings from  
  operations $ 17,474 $ 17,357 $ 21,983 $ 23,462 $ 16,033 $ 29,045 $ 31,124 $ 27,942 
Non-operating  
  income (exp)  836  174  165  389  1,159  4,096 (1,975)  920 
Earnings  
  before taxes $ 18,310 $ 17,531 $  22,148 $ 23,851 $ 17,192 $ 33,141 $ 29,149 $ 28,862 
Net earnings $ 13,380 $ 12,637 $ 15,996 $ 17,527 $ 12,335 $ 24,238 $ 20,735 $ 20,408 

Net earnings  
  per share:

  Basic $ 0.19 $ 0.17 $ 0.22 $ 0.23 $ 0.17 $ 0.33 $ 0.28 $ 0.28 
  Diluted $ 0.18 $ 0.17 $ 0.22 $ 0.23 $  0.16 $ 0.33 $ 0.28 $ 0.28 

Dividends per  
  share: $ 0.14 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $ 0.12 $  0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.10 $ 0.08 

The Companies revenue and corresponding earnings can vary from quarter to quarter depending on the delivery 
requirements of our customers. Our customers can be influenced by a variety of factors including upcoming sports or 
entertainment events as well as their access to capital. Net earnings represents net earnings attributable to shareholders.
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DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of 
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Multilateral Instrument 52-109 of the Canadian 
Securities Administrators) as of April 30, 2012.

Management has concluded that, as of April 30, 2012, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective to provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to the Company would be made known to 
them by others within the Company, particularly during the period in which this report was being prepared. 

INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management is responsible for and has designed internal controls over financial reporting, or caused it to be designed 
under management’s supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. Management has concluded 
that, as of April 30, 2012, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting were effective to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with IFRS.

CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
There have been no changes to the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the period ended April 30, 
2012 that have materially affected, or reasonably likely to materially affect, its internal controls over financial reporting. 

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
For all periods up to and including the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian GAAP. These financial statements, for the year ended April 30, 2012, are the first annual 
financial statements which the Company has prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Accordingly, the Company has prepared financial statements which comply with IFRS applicable for periods beginning 
on or after May 1, 2010 (the date of transition) as described in the significant accounting policies in Note 2 of the 
consolidated financial statements. The principal adjustments made by the Company in its reconciling from Canadian 
GAAP balance sheet as at May 1, 2010 and its previously published Canadian GAAP financial statements for the year 
ended April 30, 2011 to IFRS as described below.

Exemptions applied and mandatory exceptions
IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, allows first-time adopters certain 
exemptions from the general requirement to apply IFRS as effective for April 2012 year ends retrospectively. IFRS 1 
also includes mandatory exceptions to the retrospective application of IFRSs.

The Company has applied the following exemptions:

IFRS 2 - Share-based payment transactions
IFRS 1 does not require first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2, Share Based Payment, to equity instruments that were 
granted on or before November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted subsequent to November 7, 2002 
and vested before the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has elected not to apply IFRS 2 to awards that vested 
prior to May 1, 2010, which had been accounted for in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

IFRS 3 - Business Combinations
IFRS 1 indicates that a first-time adopter may elect not to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively 
to business combinations that occurred before the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has taken advantage 
of this election and has applied IFRS 3 to business combinations that occurred on or after May 1, 2010. In 
accordance with the IFRS 1 exemption the Company has also elected to not retroactively apply IAS 21, The Effects 
of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, on fair value adjustments and goodwill arising in business combinations 
that occurred before May 1, 2010.
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis (CONT’D)

IAS 21 - Cumulative translation differences
IFRS 1 provides the option to reset the balance of the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment to zero on 
the date of transition. The Company has chosen to apply this election and has eliminated the cumulative translation 
difference and has adjusted retained earnings by the same amount at the date of transition to IFRS. If, subsequent to 
adoption, a foreign operation is disposed of, the translation differences that arose before the date of transition to IFRS 
will not affect the gain or loss on disposal.

The Company has applied the following mandatory exceptions:

IFRS 1 - Estimates
In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the date of transition to IFRS must be consistent with 
estimates made for the same date under previous GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates were 
in error. The Company’s IFRS estimates as of May 1, 2010 are consistent with its Canadian GAAP estimates for the 
same date.

Other exceptions
The three remaining mandatory exceptions to the retrospective application of IFRSs relate to the de-recognition of 
financial assets and liabilities, hedge accounting and assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations. 
The Company has determined that these mandatory exceptions have not had a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is similar to Canadian GAAP. However, significant differences exist in certain 
matters of recognition, measurement and disclosure. While adoption of IFRS has not changed the Company’s actual 
cash flows, it has resulted in changes to the Company’s reported financial position and results of operations. In order 
to allow the users of the financial statements to better understand these changes, the Company’s Canadian GAAP 
statement of earnings, statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of cash 
flows for the year ended April 30, 2011 have been reconciled to IFRS, with the resulting differences explained.
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Reconciliation of equity as at April 30, 2011 and May 1, 2010:

Notes April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010
Total equity under Canadian GAAP $  371,704 $ 312,169 
Adjustments
   Property, plant and equipment 1  887  1,560 
   Provisions 2  (320)  (253)
   Long-term projects 3  928  - 
   Business combinations 4  (172)  - 
   Translation of income tax 5  -  - 
   Non-controlling interest 6  1,550  1,408 
   Functional currency 10,11  (219)  - 

 2,654  2,715 
Tax effect of the above adjustments  (599)  (704)
Total adjustment to equity  2,055  2,011 

Total equity under IFRSs $ 373,759 $  314,180 

Reconciliation of comprehensive income for year ended April 30, 2011:

Notes Year-ended April 30, 2011
Total comprehensive income under Canadian GAAP $ 78,000 
Adjustments
   Property, plant and equipment 1  (674)
   Provisions 2  (67)
   Long-term projects 3  928 
   Business combinations 4  (172)
   Translation of income tax 5  - 
   Non-controlling interest 6  542 
   Share based payments 8  252 
   Functional currency 10,11  (219)

 590 
Tax effect of the above adjustments  106 
Total adjustment to comprehensive income  696 

Total comprehensive income under IFRSs $ 78,696 
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mAnAgEmEnt’s discUssion And AnAlYsis (CONT’D)

Notes to the financial statement reconciliations

(1) The Company has retroactively applied IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, which requires the Company to identify the 
significant components of its property, plant and equipment and depreciate these parts separately over their respective useful 
lives. The impact of the retroactive application of the increased componentization has resulted in an increase in the net book 
value of capital assets and retained earnings at the date of transition and an increase in subsequent amortization expense. 

(2) IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, requires separate disclosure of provisions on the face of the 
statement of financial position. This was not required under previous Canadian GAAP; therefore, all provisions were reclassified 
from accounts payable and accrued liabilities upon transition. Additionally, provisions as at May 1, 2010, as reported under 
Canadian GAAP, were re-assessed in accordance with the provisions of IAS 37. As a result of measurement differences between 
Canadian GAAP and IFRS, the Company increased its provision for site restoration costs. 

(3) IAS 11, Construction Contracts, requires revenues on projects which meet the definition of a construction contract to be 
measured using the percentage of completion method. The Company has identified certain long-term contracts which meet 
the definition of construction contracts for which no revenues were previously recognized until shipment and transfer of title to 
customers were completed. The recognition method relating to these contracts has been restated to reflect the percentage of 
completion method.

(4) The Company has elected under IFRS 1 not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to business combinations that occurred prior to May 
1, 2010. Accordingly, the Company has continued with the same accounting treatment for business combinations completed 
before that time under Canadian GAAP. For all business combinations that occurred on and subsequent to May 1, 2010 all 
business acquisitions were accounted for in accordance with IFRS 3. Under IFRS 3 all acquisition related transaction costs 
are expensed as incurred, as opposed to Canadian GAAP where the costs are capitalized during the purchase price allocation. 
Acquisitions during the year ended April 30, 2011 resulted in $172 in acquisition related transaction costs.

(5) IAS 12, Income Taxes, requires net deferred income tax assets and liabilities to be adjusted for the tax effects of revaluating 
foreign currency denominated non-monetary balances held by entities where the functional currency is different than the local 
tax currency. As this was not a requirement under Canadian GAAP, an adjustment is required upon transition. 

(6) Under IFRS, any liabilities or assets relating to a non-controlling interest are required to be classified as equity and presented 
separately from the equity attributable to shareholders of the Company. As such, the liabilities associated with the non-
controlling interest have been reclassified within the statement of financial position.

(7) Under IFRS all deferred tax balances are required to be classified as non-current, regardless of the classifications of the 
underlying assets or liabilities, or the expected reversal date of the temporary differences. The reclassification of all deferred tax 
balances to non-current also impacts the netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities within or between the taxable entities of 
the Company. 

(8) Under IFRS future forfeiture rates relating to the percentage of options that will not vest must be estimated and recorded as 
a reduction in stock compensation expense. Under Canadian GAAP forfeitures are recognized and used as a reduction in the 
expense as incurred. As such, the Company has retroactively estimated forfeiture rates for all options vesting subsequent to the 
translation date and retroactively adjusted cumulative stock compensation expense.

(9) Given the change in guidance noted above under IAS 11, Construction Contracts, and other factors, deferred revenue has 
been determined to be a material balance requiring segregation on the balance sheet. As such, deferred revenue has been 
reclassified from accounts payable to its own line item.

(10) Under the requirements of IAS 21, the Company is required to assess the functional currency of all subsidiary entities no 
matter where the entity resides. Upon the review upon transition it was concluded a subsidiary previously accounted for as 
an integrated operation has a functional currency different from the parent. The impact of the adjustment has resulted in 
the reclassification of prior year foreign exchange adjustments from foreign exchange expense to the cumulative translation 
adjustment within comprehensive income.

(11) Under the requirements of IAS 21, the Company is required to assess the functional currency of all subsidiary entities no matter 
where the entity resides. Upon transition it was concluded an entity previously accounted for as a self-sustaining operation has 
a functional currency consistent with the parent. As noted under discussions related to IFRS 3, the Company has taken the IFRS 
3 exemption to maintain goodwill at its historical cost. The impact of the adjustment has resulted in an adjustment of goodwill 
ensuring it is maintained at its historical translation rate as opposed to the spot rate used under Canadian GAAP.

(12) As noted under discussions relating to IAS 21, the Company has elected to apply the IFRS 1 election allowing for the resetting of 
the cumulative translation adjustment balance as at May 1, 2010 to zero. 
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Reconciliation of consolidated cash flows
There are no material differences between the statement of cash flows presented under IFRS and the statement of 
cash flows under Canadian GAAP.

HIGHLIGHTS FROM THE FOURTH QUARTER
Revenue increased by $7.3 million or 11% for the three months ended April 30, 2012 when compared to the same 
period ended April 30, 2011. Revenue increased in the International region by 42%. Revenue decreased in the United 
States/Canada region by 11%.

Fully diluted EPS was $0.18 for the three months ended April 30, 2012 as compared to $0.16 for the period ended 
April 30, 2011.

Selling and administrative expenses increased by $1.9 million for the three months ended April 30, 2012 when 
compared to the same period ended April 30, 2011. Selling and administrative expenses were approximately 16% of 
revenue for the three months ended April 30, 2012 as compared to approximately 15% of revenue for the same period 
ended April 30, 2011.

Research and development expenses increased by $2.9 million for the three months ended April 30, 2012 when compared 
to the same period ended April 30, 2011. Research and development expenses represented approximately 17% of revenue 
for the three months ended April 30, 2012 as compared to approximately 14% for the same period ended April 30, 2011.

The Company’s scientific research tax credits were $2.6 million for the three months ended April 30, 2012 as 
compared to $2.3 million for the three months ended April 30, 2011. 

OUTLOOK
Management expects on an annual basis that the Company’s revenues will continue to outpace the industry growth. 
Gross margin percentages may vary depending on the mix of products sold, the Company’s success in winning more 
complete projects, utilization of manufacturing capacity and the competitiveness of the pricing environment. R&D will 
continue to be a key focus as the Company invests in new product development. 

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Company risk factors are outlined in our AIF filed on SEDAR.
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indEPEndEnt AUditor's rEPort
To the Shareholders of Evertz Technologies Limited

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Evertz Technologies Limited, which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at April 30, 2012, April 30, 2011 and May 1, 2010, and the 
consolidated statements of changes in equity, earnings, comprehensive income and cash flows for the years ended 
April 30, 2012 and April 30, 2011, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Evertz Technologies Limited as at April 30, 2012, April 30, 2011 and May 1, 2010, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years ended April 30, 2012 and April 30, 2011 in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 

 
 
chArtErEd AccoUntAnts
licenced Public Accountants 
june 13, 2012 
Burlington, Ontario
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indEPEndEnt AUditor's rEPort
To the Shareholders of Evertz Technologies Limited

consolidAtEd stAtEmEnts of finAnciAl Position
As at April 30, 2012, April 30, 2011 and May 1, 2010 

(In thousands of Canadian dollars) April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010
(note 24) (note 24)

AssEts
Current assets

   Cash and cash equivalents $  173,665 $ 175,835 $ 133,755 
   Instruments held for trading  12,004  16,190  11,274 
   Trade and other receivables (note 4)  61,806  52,732  48,988 
   Inventories (note 5)  109,211  106,422  91,745 
   Income tax receivable (note 22)  11,695  2,014  3,850 

$ 368,381 $ 353,193 $ 289,612 

Assets held for sale (note 23) $ 3,781 $ - $ - 

Property, Plant and Equipment (note 6) $ 41,190 $  37,627 $  41,328 
Goodwill (note 7)  17,507  17,467  14,584 
Intangible assets  (note 8)  1,005  2,224  1,823 

$ 431,864 $ 410,511 $ 347,347 

liabilities
   Current liabilities, trade and other payables $ 37,034 $ 21,814 $ 21,652 
   Provisions (note 9)  809  1,235  1,139 
   Deferred revenue  4,460  3,664  1,361 
   Current portion of long term debt (note 10)  401  451  388 

$ 42,704 $ 27,164 $ 24,540 

Long term debt (note 10) $ 1,875 $ 2,493 $ 2,732 
Deferred taxes (note 22)  7,331  7,095  5,895 

$ 51,910 $ 36,752 $ 33,167 

EQUitY
Capital stock (note 11) $ 67,458 $ 58,882 $ 51,035 
Share based payment reserve  14,320  13,762  12,183 

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income  (906)  440  - 
Retained earnings  297,545  299,125  249,554 

$ 296,639 $ 299,565 $ 249,554 

Total equity attributable to shareholders  378,417  372,209  312,772 
Non-controlling interest  1,537  1,550  1,408 

 379,954  373,759  314,180 
$ 431,864 $ 410,511 $ 347,347 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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consolidAtEd stAtEmEnts of chAngEs in EQUitY
Year ended April 30

 Capital 
 stock 

Share
 based 

payment
 reserve 

Accumulated
 other 

 comprehen-
sive 

 (loss)  
income  

Retained
 earnings 

Total
equity

attributable  
to

share-
holders

Non-
control-

ling
interest

Total 
 Equity 

(In thousands of Canadian 
dollars)

Balance at may 1, 
2010 $  51,035 $  12,183 $  - $ 249,554 $ 312,772 $ 1,408 $ 314,180 

Net earnings for the    
 year  -  -  -  77,714  77,714  545  78,259 
Foreign currency  
 translation adjustment  -  -  440  -  440  (3)  437 

Total comprehensive  
 income for the year $ - $ - $ 440 $ 77,714 $ 78,154 $ 542 $ 78,696 
Dividends declared  -  -  -  (28,143)  (28,143)  (400)  (28,543)
Compensation expense  
 related to stock options  -  3,796  -  -  3,796  -  3,796 

Exercise of employee   
 stock options  5,630  -  -  -  5,630  -  5,630 
Transfer of stock option  
 exercise  2,217  (2,217)  -  -  -  -  - 
Balance at April 30,  
 2011 $ 58,882 $ 13,762 $ 440 $ 299,125 $ 372,209 $ 1,550 $ 373,759 

Net earnings for the  
 year  -  -  -  59,540  59,540  416  59,956 
Foreign currency  
 translation adjustment  -  -  (1,346)  -  (1,346)  (29)  (1,375)

Total comprehensive  
 income for the year $ - $ - $ (1,346) $ 59,540 $ 58,194 $ 387 $ 58,581 
Dividends declared  -  -  -  (36,862)  (36,862)  (400)  (37,262)
Compensation expense  
 related to stock options  -  3,164  -  -  3,164  -  3,164 

Exercise of employee  
 stock options  7,588  -  -  -  7,588  -  7,588 
Transfer of stock option  
 exercise  2,606  (2,606)  -  -  -  - 
Repurchase of  
 common shares  (1,618)  -  -  (24,258)  (25,876)  -  (25,876)
Balance at April 30,  
 2012 $ 67,458 $ 14,320 $ (906) $ 297,545 $ 378,417 $ 1,537 $ 379,954 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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consolidAtEd stAtEmEnts of EArnings
Year ended April 30

(In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 2012 2011

Revenue (note 12) $ 293,400 $ 309,259 
Cost of goods sold  127,232  130,950 
Gross margin  166,168  178,309 

Expenses
   Selling, administrative and general (note 13)  53,906  44,263 
   Research and development  44,200  35,719 
   Investment tax credits  (9,872)  (8,410)
   Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (2,342)  2,592 

 85,892  74,164 
 80,276  104,145 

Finance income  1,915  1,080 
Finance costs  (197)  (187)
Other income and expenses  (154)  3,308 
Earnings before income taxes  81,840  108,346 

Provision for income taxes
   Current (note 22)  21,669  29,207 
   Deferred (note 22)  215  880 

 21,884  30,087 

Net earnings for the year  59,956  78,259 

Net earnings attributable to non-controlling interest  416  545 
Net earnings attributable to shareholders  59,540  77,714 
Net earnings for the year $ 59,956 $ 78,259 

Earnings per share (note 21)

Basic $ 0.81 $ 1.05 
Diluted $ 0.81 $ 1.04 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011

Net earnings for the year $ 59,956 $ 78,259 
Foreign currency translation adjustment  (1,375)  437 

Comprehensive income $ 58,581 $ 78,696 

Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest  387  542 
Comprehensive income attributable to shareholders $ 58,194 $ 78,154 
Comprehensive income $ 58,581 $ 78,696 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

consolidAtEd stAtEmEnts of comPrEhEnsivE incomE
Year ended April 30
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consolidAtEd stAtEmEnts of cAsh flows
Year ended April 30

(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 2012 2011

Operating activities
Net earnings for the year $ 59,956 $  78,259 
Add:  Items not involving cash
   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7,698  7,130 
   Amortization of intangible assets  1,232  1,023 
   Loss (gain) on instruments held for trading  53  (3,668)
   Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  34  497 
   Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (note 23)  420  - 
   Share-based compensation  3,164  3,796 
   Interest expense  197  187 
   Deferred income tax expense  215  880 

 72,969  88,104 
Current tax expenses, net of investment tax credits  11,797  20,797 
Income taxes paid  (21,523)  (19,117)
Changes in non-cash working capital items (note 14)  3,400  (16,122)
Cash provided by operating activities  66,643  73,662 

Investing activities
   Acquisition of instruments held for trading  -  (12,003)
   Proceeds from disposal of instruments held for trading  4,133  10,755 
   Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (16,622)  (4,116)
   Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  410  795 
   Business acquisitions net of cash acquired  -  (2,917)
Cash used in investing activities  (12,079)  (7,486)

Financing activities
   Repayment of long term debt  (482)  (301)
   Interest paid  (197)  (187)
   Dividends paid  (36,862)  (28,143)
   Dividends paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests  (400)  (400)
   Capital stock repurchase (note 11)  (25,876)  - 
   Capital stock issued  7,588  5,630 
Cash used in financing activities  (56,229)  (23,401)

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  (505)  (695)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,170)  42,080 
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year  175,835  133,755 
Cash and cash equivalents end of period $ 173,665 $ 175,835 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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notEs to consolidAtEd finAnciAl stAtEmEnts
Years ended April 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for “number of common shares” and 
“number of options”)

EVERTz TECHNOLOGIES LIMITED (“EVERTz” OR THE “COMPANY”) IS INCORPORATED UNDER THE CANADA BuSINESS 

CORPORATIONS ACT. THE COMPANY IS INCORPORATED AND DOMICILED IN CANADA AND THE REGISTERED HEAD OFFICE IS 

LOCATED AT 5292 jOHN LUCAS DRIVE, BURLINGTON, ONTARIO, CANADA. THE COMPANY IS A LEADING EqUIPMENT PROVIDER 

TO THE TELEVISION BROADCAST INDUSTRY. THE COMPANY DESIGNS, MANUFACTURES AND DISTRIBUTES VIDEO AND AUDIO 

INFRASTRUCTURE EqUIPMENT FOR THE PRODUCTION, POST–PRODUCTION, BROADCAST AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS MARkETS.

1. sTATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB"). As these are the Company’s 
first annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, they have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 
1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards”. 

Prior to the adoption of IFRS, the Company prepared its annual financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). Subject to certain transition elections disclosed in note 
24, the Company has consistently applied the same accounting policies in its opening IFRS statement of financial 
position at May 1, 2010 (the “transition date”) and throughout all periods presented, as if these policies had always 
been in effect. Note 24 discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows, including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies 
from those used in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2011, reported in 
accordance with Canadian GAAP. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on june 13, 2012.

2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs
Outlined below are those policies considered particularly significant:

Basis of Measurement
These financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain financial assets and 
liabilities which are stated at fair value. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in 
exchange for assets.

Functional and Presentation Currency 
These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial 
information presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

Basis of Consolidation
These financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are included in the consolidated statements of earnings and 
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-Company transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the 
aggregate of the fair values, at the date of acquisition, of assets transferred, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity 
instruments issued by the Company. The acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities assumed are 
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2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (CONTINUED)
recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in earnings as incurred. 
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value on date of the acquisition and is included as part of the 
consideration transferred. The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is re-measured at each reporting date 
with corresponding gain/loss recognized in earnings. The excess of the consideration over the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired is recorded as goodwill.

On an acquisition by acquisition basis, any non-controlling interest is measured either at the fair value of the non-
controlling interest or at the fair value of the proportionate share of the net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill 
arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable, net of discounts and after eliminating 
intercompany sales.

Where revenue arrangements have separately identifiable components, the consideration received or receivable is 
allocated to each identifiable component and the applicable revenue recognition criteria are applied to each of the 
components.

Revenue is derived from the sale of hardware and software solutions including related services, training and 
commissioning. Revenue from sales of hardware and software are recognized upon shipment, provided that the 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer, the Company retains neither 
continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the 
goods sold, revenue can be reliably measured and its probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company. 
Service revenue is recognized as services are performed. 

Certain of the Company’s contracts are long-term in nature. When the outcome of the contract can be assessed 
reliably, the Company recognizes revenue on long-term contracts using the percentage of completion method, based 
on costs incurred relative to the estimated total contract costs. When the outcome of the contract cannot be assessed 
reliably contract costs incurred are immediately expensed and revenue is recognized only to the extent that costs are 
considered likely to be recovered.

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the amount 
of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal 
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in the bank, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, work in progress and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes raw materials, the cost of direct 
labour applied to the product and the overhead expense. 

Net realizable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and 
costs necessary to make the sale.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognized impairment loss. 
Where the costs of certain components of an item of property, plant and equipment are significant in relation to the 
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notEs to consolidAtEd finAnciAl stAtEmEnts (CONT’D)
Years ended April 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for “number of common shares” and “number of options”)

2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (CONTINUED)
total cost of the item, they are accounted for and depreciated separately. Depreciation expense is calculated based on 
depreciable amounts which is the cost of an asset less residual value and is recognized in earnings on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated useful life of the related asset. Borrowing costs are capitalized to the cost of qualifying assets 
that take a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset Basis Rate

Office furniture and equipment Straight-line 10 years
Research and development equipment Straight-line 5 years
Machinery and equipment Straight-line 5 - 15 years
Leaseholds Straight-line 5 years
Building Straight-line 10 - 40 years
Airplanes Straight-line 10 - 20 years

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in earnings.

The Company reviews the residual value, estimated useful life and the depreciation method at each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may be more than its recoverable amount. At each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying 
amounts of its other non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent from other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) 
to which the asset belongs. Goodwill is allocated to a group of CGU’s based on the level at which it is monitored for 
internal reporting purposes.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future 
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss relating to a CGU to which goodwill has 
been allocated, is allocated to the carrying amount of the goodwill first. An impairment loss is recognized immediately 
in earnings.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses for other 
non-financial assets, the carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognized immediately in earnings.

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets
Intangibles assets represent intellectual property acquired through business acquisitions and are recorded at cost less 
any impairment loss and are amortized using the straight–line method over a four–year period. The estimated useful 
life and amortization method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
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2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (CONTINUED)
Research and development
All research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred unless a development project meets the criteria 
for capitalization. Development expenditures are capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the 
product of process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and the Company 
intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. No internally generated 
intangible assets have been recognized to date.

Research and development expenditures are reduced by investment tax credits and related government grants. 
Investment tax credits for scientific research and experimental development are recognized in the period the qualifying 
expenditures are incurred if there is reasonable assurance that they will be realized.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision 
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of 
those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Company at their fair value or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the Statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to earnings on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 

Foreign Currency Translation
The individual financial statements of each subsidiary entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements, the results and financial position of each group entity are presented in Canadian dollars (‘CDN’), which is 
the functional currency of the parent Company and the presentation currency for the financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at that date. Exchange differences are recognized in earnings in the period in which they arise. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign 
operations are expressed in Canadian dollars using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. 
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Foreign currency gains and 
losses are recognized in other comprehensive income. The relevant amount in cumulative foreign currency translation 
adjustment is reclassified into earnings upon disposition or partial disposition of a foreign operation and attributed to 
non-controlling interests as appropriate.
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2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (CONTINUED)
Income Taxes
Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net earnings as reported in 
the statement of earnings because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years 
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date. 

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on unused tax losses and credits, as well as differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases 
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences and deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available 
against which unused tax losses, credits and other deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and 
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realized. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would 
follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is charged or credited to earnings, except when it relates to 
items charged or credited directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 
with in other comprehensive income or equity.

Share Based Compensation
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-
based transactions are set out in note 16.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line 
basis over the vesting period of the option based on the Company’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that 
will eventually vest. At each reporting period, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments 
expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in earnings such that the 
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share based payment reserve. 

Earnings per Share
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its common shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the net earnings attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the net earnings attributable to shareholders and 
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive common shares, 
which is comprised of share options granted to employees with an exercise price below the average market price.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of 
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (CONTINUED)
All other borrowing costs are recognized in earnings in the period in which they are incurred.

Investment Tax Credits
The Company is entitled to investment tax credits, which are earned as a percentage of eligible research and 
development expenditures incurred in each taxation year. Investment tax credits relate entirely to the Company’s 
research and development expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings but are presented separately in the 
consolidated statement of earnings for information purposes. Investment tax credits are recognized when there is 
reasonable assurance they will be received.

Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities which are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured 
based on their assigned classifications as follows:

Asset/liability category measurement

Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Amortized cost
Instruments held for trading Fair value through profit or loss Fair value
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Amortized cost
Trade and other payables Other liabilities Amortized cost
Current portion of long term debt Other liabilities Amortized cost
Long term debt Other liabilities Amortized cost
Contingent consideration Fair value through profit or loss Fair value

Financial Assets
All financial assets are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets 
classified as fair value through profit or loss, which are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specific categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit 
or loss” (FVTPL), “held-to-maturity” investments, “available-for-sale” (AFS) financial assets and “loans and 
receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized 
in earnings.

Transaction costs in respect of financial instruments are fair value through profit or loss are recognized in earnings 
immediately. Transaction costs in respect of other financial instruments are included in the initial measurement of the 
financial instrument.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting period. Financial 
assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected. For certain 
categories of financial assets, such as trade and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 
are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment of a financial asset can 
include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an asset, default or delinquency by a debtor, indication that a 
debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organization or the disappearance of an active market for a security.

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.
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2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (CONTINUED)
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognized in earnings.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized 
in earnings. The net gain or loss recognized in earnings incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is 
included in the “other income and expenses” line item in the consolidated statements of earnings.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognized at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Other financial liabilities, including long term debt, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other 
financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognized on an effective yield basis.

Use of Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. 
Consequently, actual results could differ from those estimates. Those estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate 
is revised and in any future periods affected. Significant estimates include the determination of the allowance for 
doubtful accounts for trade receivables, provision for inventory obsolescence, the useful life of property, plant and 
equipment for depreciation, amortization and evaluation of net recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, 
determination of fair value for share-based compensation, evaluating deferred income tax assets and liabilities, the 
determination of fair value of financial instruments and the likelihood of recoverability determination of implied fair 
value of goodwill and implied fair value of assets and liabilities for purchase price allocation purposes and goodwill 
impairment test purposes. 

Significant items requiring the use of judgment in application of accounting policies and assumptions include the 
determination of the Canadian dollar as the functional currency, classification of financial instruments, classification 
of leases, application of the percentage of completion method on long-term contracts, degree of componentization 
applied when calculating amortization of property, plant and equipment, and identification of cash generating units for 
impairment testing purposes.

Operating Segments
An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Company’s 
other components. The Company reviewed its operations and determined that it operates a single reportable segment, 
the television broadcast equipment market. The single reportable operating segment derives its revenue from the sale 
of hardware and software solutions including related services, training and commissioning.

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use are 
classified as held for sale and are not depreciated. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets 
are remeasured in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies. The assets are measured at the lower of 
their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and 
subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss. Gains are not recognized in excess of 
any cumulative impairment loss.
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2. sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (CONTINUED)
New and Revised IFRSs Issued but Not Yet Effective
Following is a listing of amendments, revisions and new International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued but not 
effective until annual periods beginning after May 1, 2012. Unless otherwise indicated, earlier application is permitted.

Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 Financial instruments (“IFRS 9”) was issued by the IASB on November 12, 2009 and will replace IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). IFRS 9 uses a single approach to determine whether a financial 
asset is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the multiple rules in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based 
on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets. The new standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing 
the multiple impairment methods in IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2015. 
The Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 9 on its financial statements.

Consolidated Financial Statements
IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”) establishes principles for the presentation and preparation 
of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 replaces the 
consolidation requirements in SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements. IFRS 10 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The Company has 
not yet determined the impact of IFRS 10 on its financial statements.

Joint Arrangements
IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”) provides a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by focusing on the 
rights and obligations of the arrangement, rather than its legal form as is currently the case. IFRS 11 replaces SIC-13, 
Jointly Controlled Entities – Non-Monetary Contribution by Venturers and IAS 31, Interests in Joint Ventures. IFRS 11 is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The Company has not yet determined the impact of 
IFRS 11 on its financial statements.

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”) is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure 
requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and 
unconsolidated structured entities. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The 
Company has not yet determined the impact of IFRS 12 on its financial statements.

Fair Value Measurements
IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements (“IFRS 13”) provides new guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure 
requirements. IFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2013. The Company has not yet 
determined the impact of IFRS 13 on its financial statements.

Income Taxes
The amendments to IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) relate to the measurement of deferred taxes for investment 
property carried at fair value. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after january 1, 2012. The 
Company has not yet determined the impact of the changes to IAS 12 on its financial statements.

Presentation of Financial Statements
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”), which are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after july 1, 2012, are to be applied retroactively. The amendments require that an entity present 
separately the items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those 
that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The Company has not yet determined the impact of the changes to 
IAS 1 on its financial statements. 
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3. BUsINEss ACQUIsITIONs
On December 3, 2010 the Company completed the purchase of 100% of the share capital of an international 
technology-based company for cash consideration of $2,917, net of $1,483 in cash acquired. The acquisition price 
includes $1,600 in contingent consideration that the Company has determined as probable to be incurred. The 
acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method and its operating results have been included in these 
financial statements since the date of acquisition. During fiscal 2011 the Company recognized $172 of transaction 
costs in selling, administrative and general expenses relating to the acquisition.

The allocation of the purchase price is based on management's estimate of the fair value of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. The allocation of the purchase price was as follows:

Trade and other receivables $  2,203 
Inventory  245 
Income tax receivable  15 
Trade and other payables  (1,109)
Deferred revenue  (2,526)
Property, plant and equipment  131 
Intangibles - intellectual property  1,440 
Deferred tax liability  (397)
Goodwill (not tax deductible)  2,915 

$ 2,917 

The fair value of trade and other receivables was determined by netting $2,579 in gross receivables with $376 in 
receivables deemed uncollectable. Goodwill recognized upon acquisition relates to expected synergies, revenue 
growth, future market development and the assembled workforce of the entity.

4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLEs

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010

Trade receivables $ 53,327 $ 49,427 $ 47,314 
Receivables on construction contracts, net of  
 progress billings  6,543  1,387  - 
Other receivables  1,936  1,918  1,674 

$ 61,806 $ 52,732 $ 48,988 

5. INVENTORIEs

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010

Finished goods $ 42,144 $ 36,143 $ 29,796 
Raw material and supplies  46,851  51,846  46,258 
Work in progress  20,216  18,433  15,691 

$ 109,211 $ 106,422 $ 91,745 

Cost of sales for the year ended April 30, 2012 was comprised of $89,641 of inventory (2011 - $94,576) and $1,782 
of inventory write-offs (2011 - $2,818).
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011

Cost
Accumulated  
Amortization

Carrying 
Amount Cost

Accumulated  
Amortization

Carrying 
Amount

Office furniture and equipment $  1,680 $ 1,068 $ 612 $ 1,354 $ 974 $  380 
Research and development   
 equipment  10,952  6,365  4,587  8,042  5,184  2,858 
Airplanes  12,639  809  11,830  10,995  3,975  7,020 
Machinery and equipment  40,507  25,481  15,026  38,157  21,400  16,757 
Leaseholds  3,598  2,225  1,373  3,607  1,657  1,950 
Land  1,448  -  1,448  1,557  -  1,557 
Buildings  7,610  1,296  6,314  8,307  1,202  7,105 

$ 78,434 $ 37,244 $ 41,190 $ 72,019 $  34,392 $ 37,627 

May 1, 2010

Cost
Accumulated  
Amortization

Carrying 
Amount

Office furniture and equipment $  1,300 $ 884 $  416 
Research and development equipment  7,100  4,272  2,828 
Airplanes  11,119  3,430  7,689 
Machinery and equipment  36,553  16,675  19,878 
Leaseholds  3,456  1,292  2,164 
Land  1,491  -  1,491 
Buildings  7,795  933  6,862 

$  68,814 $ 27,486 $ 41,328 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Office
furniture

and 
equip-
ment

Research
 and

develop-
ment

equip-
ment Airplanes

Machin-
ery

and
equip-
ment

Lease-
holds Land Building Total

cost

Balance as at may 1, 2010 $ 1,300 $ 7,100 $  11,119 $  36,553 $  3,456 $ 1,491 $  7,795 $ 68,814 
Additions  49  911  1,451  1,522  136  -  47  4,116 
Acquisition of subsidiary  -  -  -  131  -  -  -  131 
Foreign exchange  
 adjustments  5  60  -  51  15  66  465  662 
Disposals  -  (29)  (1,575)  (100)  -  -  -  (1,704)
Balance as at April 30,  
 2011 $ 1,354 $ 8,042 $  10,995 $  38,157 $  3,607 $ 1,557 $ 8,307 $ 72,019 

Additions  318  2,916  10,118  2,983  287  -  -  16,622 
Foreign exchange  
 adjustments  8  8  -  (88)  9  (109)  (697)  (869)
Transfer to held for sale  -  -  (8,474)  -  -  -  -  (8,474)
Disposals  -  (14)  -  (545)  (305)  -  -  (864)
Balance as at April 30,  
 2012 $ 1,680 $ 10,952 $ 12,639 $  40,507 $  3,598 $  1,448 $ 7,610 $ 78,434 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance as at may 1, 2010 $ 884 $ 4,272 $  3,430 $  16,675 $  1,292 $ - $ 933 $ 27,486 
Depreciation for the year  89  871  888  4,706  362  -  214  7,130 
Foreign exchange  
 adjustments  1  58  -  50  3  -  55  167 
Disposals  -  (17)  (343)  (31)  -  -  -  (391)
Balance as at April 30,  
 2011 $ 974 $ 5,184 $ 3,975 $  21,400 $  1,657 $ - $ 1,202 $ 34,392 
Depreciation for the year  100  1,188  1,003  4,382  842  -  183  7,698 
Impairment loss  -  -  420  -  -  -  -  420 
Foreign exchange  
 adjustments  (6)  (7)  -  (65)  6  -  (89)  (161)
Transfer to held for sale  -  -  (4,589)  -  -  -  -  (4,589)

Disposals  -  -  -  (236)  (280)  -  -  (516)
Balance as at April 30,  
 2012 $  1,068 $ 6,365 $  809 $  25,481 $  2,225 $ - $  1,296 $ 37,244 

carrying amounts

At May 1, 2010 $ 416 $ 2,828 $ 7,689 $  19,878 $  2,164 $ 1,491 $ 6,862 $ 41,328 
At April 30, 2011 $ 380 $ 2,858 $ 7,020 $  16,757 $ 1,950 $ 1,557 $ 7,105 $ 37,627 
At April 30, 2012 $ 612 $  4,587 $ 11,830 $  15,026 $ 1,373 $  1,448 $ 6,314 $ 41,190 
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7. GOODWILL
The changes in carrying amounts of goodwill are as follows:

Cost

Balance as at may 1, 2010 $ 14,584 
Business acquisitions (note 3)  2,915 
Foreign exchange differences  (32)
Balance as at April 30, 2011 $ 17,467 
Foreign exchange differences  40 

 Balance as at April 30, 2012 $ 17,507 

The Company performs an impairment test annually on April 30th or whenever there is an indication of impairment.  
The key assumptions used in performing the impairment test at April 30, 2012 are as follows:

Method of determining recoverable amount: Value in use
Discount Rate: 8%
Perpetual growth rate: 5% to 10%

Recoverable amount
Management past experience and future expectations of the business performance is used to make a best estimate 
of the expected revenue, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“ EBITDA”) and operating 
cash flows for a five year period. Subsequent to the fifth year period the present value of the fifth year cash flows is 
calculated in perpetuity.

Discount rate
The discount rate applied is a pretax rate that reflects the time value of money and risk associated with the business.

Perpetual growth rate
The perpetual growth rate is management’s current assessment of the long-term grown prospect of the Company in the 
jurisdictions in which it operates.

Sensitivity analysis
Management performs sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions. Sensitivity analysis indicates reasonable changes 
to key assumptions will not result in an impairment loss.
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8. INTANGIBLE AssETs

Intellectual
 property 

cost
Balance as at may 1, 2010 $ 6,423 
Business acquisitions (note 3)  1,440 
Foreign exchange differences  (15)
Balance as at April 30, 2011 $ 7,848 
Foreign exchange differences  18 
Balance as at April 30, 2012 $ 7,866 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at may 1, 2010 $ (4,600)
Amortization for the year  (1,023)
Foreign exchange differences  (1)
Balance as at April 30, 2011 $ (5,624)
Amortization for the year  (1,232)
Foreign exchange differences  (5)
Balance as at April 30, 2012 $ (6,861)

carrying amounts
At May 1, 2010 $ 1,823 
At April 30, 2011 $ 2,224 
At April 30, 2012 $ 1,005 

9. PROVIsIONs

 
Warranty and 

 Returns 

Lease/ 
Retirement  
Obligations  Total 

Balance as at may 1, 2010 $ 750 $ 389 $ 1,139 
Additions  16  70  86 
Foreign exchange differences  -  10  10 
Balance as at April 30, 2011 $ 766 $ 469 $ 1,235 

Additions  -  6  6 
Provisions used  -  (417)  (417)
Foreign exchange differences  (4)  (11)  (15)
Balance as at April 30, 2012 $ 762 $ 47 $ 809 

Warranty and Returns
The provision relates to estimate future costs associated with warranty repairs and returns or hardware solutions. The 
provision is based on historical data associated with similar products.

Lease/Retirement Obligations
The provision relates to estimate restoration costs expected to be incurred upon the conclusion of company leases.
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10. LONG TERM DEBT
a) Credit Facilities
As at April 30, 2012, the Company had the following credit facilities available:

1. Credit facilities of $15,000 and a treasury risk management facility up to $10,000 available, bearing interest 
at prime, subject to certain covenants and secured by all Canadian based assets. Advances under these 
facilities bear interest at prime. There were no borrowings against either of these facilities as at April 30, 2012, 
2011 or May 1, 2010.

2. Credit facility available of 509 Euros bearing interest at WIBOR plus 1.6% per annum. There were no 
borrowings outstanding under this facility as at April 30, 2012, 2011 or May 1, 2010.

b) Long Term Debt

April 30, 
2012

April 30,  
2011

May 1,  
2010

1. Mortgage payable denominated in Euros, secured by buildings, 
bearing interest at LIBOR EUR three months fixed rate plus 1%, 
payable monthly, maturing in March 2021 with an option to 
end the contract prior to maturity upon payment of a penalty 
fee. $ 1,583 $ 1,854 $ 1,914 

2. Loans payable denominated in Euros, secured by land and 
buildings, payable monthly, bearing interest at WIBOR plus 1% 
per annum, maturing on july 31, 2015.  611 911  1,078 

3. Other 82 179  128 
$ 2,276 $ 2,944 $ 3,120 

Less current portion 401 451  388 
$ 1,875 $ 2,493 $ 2,732 

11. CAPITAL sTOCK
Authorized capital stock consists of: 
Unlimited number of preferred shares 
Unlimited number of common shares

 Number of  
Common 

Shares  Amount 

Balance as at may 1, 2010  73,607,506 $  51,035 
Issued on exercise of stock options  863,100  5,630 
Transferred from share based payment reserve  -  2,217 
Balance as at April 30, 2011  74,470,606 $ 58,882 

Issued on exercise of stock options  801,980  7,588 
Cancelled pursuant to NCIB  (2,046,800)  (1,618)
Transferred from share based payment reserve    -  2,606 
Balance as at April 30, 2012  73,225,786 $ 67,458 
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11. CAPITAL sTOCK (CONTINUED)
Normal Course Issuer Bid
In june 2011, the Company filed a Normal Course Issuer Bid (NCIB) with the Toronto stock exchange (“TSx”) to 
repurchase, at the Company’s discretion, until june 28, 2012 up to 3,751,717 outstanding common shares on the 
open market or as otherwise permitted, subject to normal terms and limitations of such bids. For fiscal 2012, the 
Company purchased and cancelled 2,046,800 (2011 – 0) common shares at a weighted average price of $12.64 
(2011 - $0) per share under the NCIB.

Dividends Per Share
During the year $0.50 (2011 - $0.38) in dividends per share were declared.

12. REVENUE

 2012 2011
Revenue from hardware, software including related services, training  
 and commissioning $ 278,033 $ 305,755 
Construction contract revenue  15,367  3,504 

$ 293,400 $ 309,259 

13. sELLING, ADMINIsTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENsEs

 2012 2011

Selling and administrative $  47,118 $ 37,583 
Share-based compensation (note 16)  3,164  3,796 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (non-production)  2,392  1,861 
Amortization of intangibles  1,232  1,023 

$ 53,906 $ 44,263 

14. sTATEMENT OF CAsH FLOWs
Changes in non–cash working capital items

2012 2011

Trade and other receivables $ (9,544) $ (913)
Inventories  (3,373)  (13,766)
Trade and other payables  15,947  (1,316)
Deferred revenue  796  (223)
Provisions  (426)  96 

$ 3,400 $ (16,122)

15. COMMITMENTs AND CONTINGENCIEs
In the normal course of operations, the Company is party to a number of lawsuits, claims and contingencies. Accruals 
are made in instances where it is probable that liabilities have been incurred and where such liabilities can be 
reasonably estimated. Although it is possible that liabilities may be incurred in instances for which no accruals have 
been made, the Company does not believe that the ultimate outcome of these matters will have a material impact on 
its consolidated financial position.
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15. COMMITMENTs AND CONTINGENCIEs (CONTINUED)
The Company is committed under certain operating leases with minimum annual lease payments as follows:

2013 $ 3,560 
2014  3,212 
2015  2,920 
2016  2,933 
2017  2,901 
Thereafter  6,438 

$ 21,964 

Total operating lease expense during the year was $3,231 (2011 - $3,277).

The Company has obtained documentary and standby letters of credit aggregating to a total of $1,755 (2011 - $2,327).

16. sHARE BAsED PAYMENTs
The Company established, in june 2006, a stock option plan to attract, retain, motivate and compensate employees, 
officers and eligible directors who are integral to the growth and success of the Company. A number of shares equal to 
10% of the Company’s outstanding common shares are to be reserved for issuance under the stock option plan. 

The Board of Directors administers the stock option plan and will determine the terms of any options granted. The 
exercise price of an option is to be set by the Board of Directors at the time of grant but shall not be lower than the 
market price as defined in the option plan at the time of grant. The term of the option cannot exceed 10 years. Stock 
options currently granted normally fully vest and expire by the end of the fifth year. The terms for all options prior to 
june 2006 were set by the Board of Directors at the grant date.

On September 6, 2011, the Company cancelled 630,000 options with a weighted average exercise price of $17.08 
and approximate remaining vesting period of 4.2 years, and issued 630,000 new options with an exercise price of 
$11.88 and a vesting period of 5.0 years. As a result of cancellation and issuance of these options, the fair value of the 
options, calculated using the Black-Scholes model, increased by $562 and will be amortized over the remaining vesting 
period of the options. For these options, $75 in incremental compensation cost was recognized during fiscal 2012.

The changes in the number of outstanding share options are as follows. 

 Number of  
Options 

 Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price 

Balance as at may 1, 2010  4,095,500 $ 10.82 
Granted  1,055,000  15.77 
Exercised  (863,100)  6.52 
Cancelled  (180,800)  11.87 
Balance as at April 30, 2011  4,106,600 $ 12.95 

Granted  2,346,500  11.98 
Exercised  (801,980)  9.46 
Cancelled  (930,400)  18.32 
Expired  (42,420)  11.52 
Balance as at April 30, 2012  4,678,300 $  12.60 
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16. sHARE BAsED PAYMENTs (CONTINUED)
The average share price during the year was $12.89 (2011 - $16.23).

Stock options outstanding as at April 30, 2012 are:

Exercise  
Price

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price

Number of 
Outstanding 

Options 

 Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 

Number of 
Options  

Exercisable 

 Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price 
of Exercisable 

Options 

$ 9.93-$11.00 $  10.94  1,126,800  1.0  752,200 $  10.95 
$ 11.17-$16.12 $  12.43  3,136,500  4.0  57,000 $  11.17 
$ 17.88-$19.39 $  18.15  405,000  1.1  250,000 $  17.97 
$ 29.58 $  29.58  10,000  0.8  8,000 $  29.58 
Totals $  12.60  4,678,300  3.0  1,067,200 $  12.75 

Compensation expense
The share–based compensation expense that has been charged against earnings over the fiscal period is $3,164 (2011 
- $3,796). Compensation expense on grants during the period was calculated using the Black–Scholes option pricing 
model with the following weighted average assumptions:

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011

Risk-free interest rate 1.41% 2.52%
Dividend yield 4.02% 2.40%
Expected life 5 years 5 years
Expected volatility 40% 35%
Weighted average grant-date fair value:
   Where the exercise price equaled the market price $ 3.00 $ 4.31

Expected volatility is based on a combination of historical share price volatility over the past 5 years of both the 
Company and industry index averages. Share-based compensation expense was calculated using a weighted average 
forfeiture rate of 18% (2011 – 18%).

17. FINANCIAL INsTRUMENTs AND RIsK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, instruments held for trading, trade and 
other receivables, trade and other payables, provisions, deferred revenue and long term debt. Unless otherwise 
noted, it is management’s opinion that the Company is not exposed to significant interest or credit risks arising from 
these financial instruments. The Company estimates that except for instruments held for trading, the fair value of 
these instruments approximates the carrying values due to their short-term nature.

(a) Fair values and classification of financial instruments:
The following summarizes the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial 
instruments:

I. The fair values of instruments held for trading is maintained level one hierarchy and are determined by the 
quoted market values for each of the investments in an active market at the reporting date. Gains and losses 
are included in interest and other income. 

II. Contingent consideration is level three hierarchy. Liability has not changed since the acquisition. 

III. The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, trade and other payables approximate their fair value due 
to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. The carrying amount of long term debt approximates its 
fair value as it incurs interest at a variable rate adjusted for changes in the market rate.
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17. FINANCIAL INsTRUMENTs AND RIsK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts are as follows:

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010
 Carrying 

Amount 
 Fair   

Value 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fair
Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair
Value 

Financial Assets   
Held for trading:

   Cash and cash equivalents $ 173,665 $ 173,665 $ 175,835 $ 175,835 $ 133,755 $ 133,755 
   Instruments held for  
    trading  12,004  12,004  16,190  16,190  11,274  11,274 
   Trade and other  
    receivables  61,806  61,806  52,732  52,732  48,988  48,988 

Financial Liabilities

Other liabilities:
   Trade and other payables  37,034  37,034  21,814  21,814  21,652  21,652 
   Long term debt  2,276  2,276  2,944  2,944  3,120  3,120 

(b) Financial risk management:
The Company, through its financial assets and liabilities, is exposed to various risks. The following analysis provides a 
measurement of risks as at April 30, 2012:

Credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, instruments 
held for trading and accounts receivable the total of which is the maximum credit risk. The Company performs 
evaluations of the financial situations of its customers. Management does not believe that there is significant credit 
concentration or risk.

The Company sets up an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the credit risks of the individual customer 
and the customer history. Approximately 76% (2011 – 76%) of accounts receivable are outstanding for less than 
90 days as at April 30, 2011. The amounts owing over 90 days are individually evaluated and provided for where 
appropriate in the allowance for doubtful accounts. The accounts receivable are presented as follows net of the 
allowance for doubtful accounts.

April 30, 
2012

April 30,  
2011

May 1,  
2010

Trade and other receivables $ 63,614 $  53,519 $ 49,684 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (1,808)  (787)  (696)

$ 61,806 $  52,732 $ 48,988 
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17. FINANCIAL INsTRUMENTs AND RIsK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The change in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011

Balance at beginning of year $ 787 $ 696 
Increase in allowance  1,232  278 
Bad debt recaptured and write-offs  (209)  (161)
Impact of variation in exchange rates  (2)  (26)

$  1,808 $ 787 

Exchange rate risk
The Company transacts a significant portion of its business in U.S. dollars and is therefore exposed to currency 
fluctuations.

U.S. dollar financial instruments are as follows:

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010

Cash and cash equivalents $ 39,919 $ 41,056 $ 13,961 
Trade and other receivables  33,433  32,009  31,490 
Trade and other payables  (3,742)  (2,731)  (3,818)

$ 69,610 $ 70,334 $ 41,633 

Based on the financial instruments as at April 30, 2012, a 5% change in the value of the U.S. dollar would result in a 
gain or loss of $3,480 in earnings before tax.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities. The Company's primary source of liquidity is its cash reserves. The Company also maintains certain credit 
facilities to support short term funding of operations and trade finance. The Company believes it has sufficient 
available funds to meet current and foreseeable financial requirements.  

Investment Risk
The Company invests in marketable securities that are traded in an active market. Generally the investment is limited 
to no more than 15% of the total cash and instruments held for trading.
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18. sEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company reviewed its operations and determined that it operates a single reportable segment, the television 
broadcast equipment market. The single reportable operating segment derives its revenues from the sale of hardware 
and software solutions including related services, training and commissioning.

Revenue 2012 2011

United States $ 115,630 $ 139,991 
International  143,516  137,149 
Canada  34,254  32,119 

$ 293,400 $ 309,259 

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011
 Capital  
Assets  Goodwill 

Intellectual 
Property

Capital 
Assets  Goodwill 

Intellectual 
Property

United States $ 11,956 $ - $ - $  7,207 $ - $ - 
International  10,200  17,507  1,005  9,844  17,467  2,224 
Canada  19,034  -  -  20,576  -  - 

$ 41,190 $ 17,507 $ 1,005 $ 37,627 $ 17,467 $ 2,224 

May 1, 2010
Capital 
Assets  Goodwill 

Intellectual 
Property

United States $ 7,822 $ - $ - 
International  9,254  14,584  1,823 
Canada  24,252  -  - 

$ 41,328 $ 14,584 $ 1,823 

19. RELATED PARTY TRANsACTIONs
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have 
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Company and 
other related parties are disclosed below.

Related Party Transactions
Two shareholders each indirectly hold a 10% interest in the Company’s leased premises in Ontario. This lease expires 
in 2019 with a total of $5,798 committed over the remaining term. During the year, rent paid for the leased principal 
premises amounted to $797 (2011 – $797) with no outstanding amounts due as at April 30, 2012. 

The Company also leases property where two shareholders indirectly own 100% interest. This lease expires in 2016 
with a total of $1,108 committed over the remaining term. During the year, rent paid was $223 (2011 – $240) with no 
outstanding amounts due as at April 30, 2012. 

On December 1, 2008 the Company entered into an agreement with two shareholders who each indirectly hold a 20% 
interest in the Company’s leased premises in Ontario. This lease expires in 2018 with a total of $5,205 committed over 
the remaining term. During the year, rent paid for the leased principal premises amounted to $721 (2011 - $700) with 
no outstanding amounts due as at April 30, 2012. 
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANsACTIONs (CONTINUED)
On December 15, 2008 the Company entered into a lease agreement with a director who indirectly owns 100% 
interest. The lease expires in 2013 with a total of $226 committed over the remaining term. During the year, rent paid 
was $132 (2011 - $130) with no outstanding amounts due as at April 30, 2012.

On May 1, 2009 the Company entered into an agreement with two shareholders who each indirectly hold a 35% 
interest. This lease expires in 2019 with a total of $3,190 committed over the remaining term. During the year, rent 
paid was $419 (2011 - $399) with no outstanding amounts due as at April 30, 2012.

These transactions were in the normal course of business and recorded at an exchange value established and agreed 
upon by related parties.

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel for the years ended April 30, 2012 
and April 30, 2011 are as follows.

2012 2011

Short-term benefits $ 3,885 $ 3,867 
Share-based payments  340  871 

$ 4,225 $ 4,738 

Short-term benefits include salaries, bonuses and non-monetary benefits such as Company vehicles.

20. CAPITAL DIsCLOsUREs
The Company’s capital is composed of shareholders’ equity. The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure 
sufficient liquidity to finance increases in non-cash working capital, capital expenditures for capacity expansions, 
pursuit of selective acquisitions and the payment of quarterly dividends.

The Company takes a conservative approach towards financial leverage and management of financial risk and the 
Company currently satisfies their requirements out of its internally generated cash flows.

The Company is not subject to any capital requirements imposed by a regulator.

21. EARNINGs PER sHARE

2012 2011

Weighted average common shares outstanding  73,612,759  73,989,997 
Dilutive effect of stock options  200,008  889,142 
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding  73,812,767  74,879,139 

The weighted average number of diluted common shares excludes 927,500 options because they were anti-dilutive 
during the period (2011 – 650,000).

22. INCOME TAXEs
The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the statutory combined Canadian income tax rate as follows:

2012 2011

Expected income tax expense using statutory rates $ 21,118 $ 30,153 
Difference in foreign tax rates  (211)  (462)
Non-deductible stock based compensation  885  1,208 
Other  92  (812)

$ 21,884 $ 30,087 
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22. INCOME TAXEs (CONTINUED)
Components of deferred income taxes are summarized as follows:

April 30, 2012 April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010

deferred income tax liabilities:
Tax loss carried forward $ (1,173) $ (111) $ (516)
Research and development tax credits  2,052  1,638  1,652 
Equipment tax vs accounting basis  6,061  5,825  5,724 
Intangible assets  283  642  547 
Harmonization transition credit  (472)  (961)  (1,449)
Other  580  62  (63)

$ 7,331 $ 7,095 $ 5,895 

23. NON-CURRENT AssETs HELD FOR sALE
The Company has assets that have been classified as held for sale. Efforts to sell the assets have already commenced 
and are expected to be sold before the end of the year. An impairment loss of $420 has been recorded on the 
remeasurement of the assets to the lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell, and was 
recorded within other income and expenses.

24. FIRsT-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING sTANDARDs
For all periods up to and including the year ended April 30, 2011, the Company prepared its financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian GAAP. These financial statements, for the year ended April 30, 2012, are the first annual 
financial statements which the Company has prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Accordingly, the Company has prepared financial statements which comply with IFRS applicable for periods beginning 
on or after May 1, 2010 (the date of transition) as described in the significant accounting policies in Note 2 of the 
consolidated financial statements. The principal adjustments made by the Company in its reconciling from Canadian 
GAAP balance sheet as at May 1, 2010 and its previously published Canadian GAAP financial statements for the 
year ended April 30, 2011 and in accordance with IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards” to IFRS as described below.

Exemptions applied and mandatory exceptions
IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, allows first-time adopters certain 
exemptions from the general requirement to apply IFRS as effective for April 2012 year ends retrospectively. IFRS 1 
also includes mandatory exceptions to the retrospective application of IFRSs.

The Company has applied the following exemptions:

IFRS 2 - Share-based payment transactions
IFRS 1 does not require first-time adopters to apply IFRS 2, Share Based Payment, to equity instruments that were 
granted on or before November 7, 2002, or equity instruments that were granted subsequent to November 7, 2002 
and vested before the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has elected not to apply IFRS 2 to awards that vested 
prior to May 1, 2010, which had been accounted for in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

IFRS 3 - Business Combinations
IFRS 1 indicates that a first-time adopter may elect not to apply IFRS 3, Business Combinations, retrospectively to 
business combinations that occurred before the date of transition to IFRS. The Company has taken advantage of 
this election and has applied IFRS 3 to business combinations that occurred on or after May 1, 2010. In accordance 
with the IFRS 1 exemption the Company has also elected to not retroactively apply IAS 21, The Effects of Changes 
in Foreign Exchange Rates, on fair value adjustments and goodwill arising in business combinations that occurred 
before May 1, 2010.
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24. FIRsT-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING sTANDARDs (CONTINUED)
IAS 21 - Cumulative translation differences
IFRS 1 provides the option to reset the balance of the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment to zero on 
the date of transition. The Company has chosen to apply this election and has eliminated the cumulative translation 
difference and has adjusted retained earnings by the same amount at the date of transition to IFRS. If, subsequent to 
adoption, a foreign operation is disposed of, the translation differences that arose before the date of transition to IFRS 
will not affect the gain or loss on disposal.

The Company has applied the following mandatory exceptions:

IFRS 1 - Estimates
In accordance with IFRS 1, an entity’s estimates under IFRS at the date of transition to IFRS must be consistent with 
estimates made for the same date under previous GAAP, unless there is objective evidence that those estimates were 
in error. The Company’s IFRS estimates as of May 1, 2010 are consistent with its Canadian GAAP estimates for the 
same date.

Other exceptions
The three remaining mandatory exceptions to the retrospective application of IFRSs relate to the de-recognition of 
financial assets and liabilities, hedge accounting and assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations. 
The Company has determined that these mandatory exceptions have not had a material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

IFRS employs a conceptual framework that is similar to Canadian GAAP. However, significant differences exist in certain 
matters of recognition, measurement and disclosure. While adoption of IFRS has not changed the Company’s actual 
cash flows, it has resulted in changes to the Company’s reported financial position and results of operations. In order 
to allow the users of the financial statements to better understand these changes, the Company’s Canadian GAAP 
statement of earnings, statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position for the year ended April 
30, 2011 have been reconciled to IFRS, with the resulting differences explained.
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24. FIRsT-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING sTANDARDs (CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of Statement of financial position as at April 30, 2011

Notes
CDN 

GAAP
IFRS 

Adjustments
IFRS 

Reclass IFRS

Assets
Current assets
   Cash $  175,835 $  - $  - $  175,835 
   Instruments held for trading  16,190  -  -  16,190 
   Trade and other receivables  52,732  -  -  52,732 
   Inventories  3  106,269  153  -  106,422 
   Income tax receivable  2,014  -  -  2,014 

$  353,040 $  153 $  - $  353,193 

Property, plant and equipment 1 $  36,740 $  887 $  - $  37,627 
Goodwill  4,10  17,858  (391)  -  17,467 
Intangible assets   2,224  -  -  2,224 

$  409,862 $  649 $  - $  410,511 

liabilities
Current liabilities
   Trade and other payables 2,3,9 $  27,168 $  14 $  (5,368) $  21,814 
   Provisions 2,3  -  320  915  1,235 
   Deferred revenue 9  -  (789)  4,453  3,664 
   Current portion of long term debt  451  -  -  451 
   Deferred taxes 7  1,177  -  (1,177)  - 

$  28,796 $  (455) $  (1,177) $  27,164 

Long term debt $  2,493 $  - $  - $  2,493 
Deferred taxes  1,2,4,5,7  5,319  599  1,177  7,095 

$  36,608 $  144 $  - $  36,752 

Non-controlling interest 6  1,550  -  (1,550)  - 

Equity
Capital stock  $  58,882 $  - $  - $  58,882 
Contributed surplus  8  14,659  (897)  -  13,762 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  12  (3,852)  4,292  -  440 
Retained earnings 1,2,3,4,8,12  302,015  (2,890)  -  299,125 

$  298,163 $  1,402 $  - $  299,565 

Total equity attributable to shareholders  371,704  505  -  372,209 
Non-controlling Interest 6  -  -  1,550  1,550 

 371,704  505  1,550  373,759 
$  409,862 $  649 $  - $  410,511 
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Years ended April 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for “number of common shares” and “number of options”)

24. FIRsT-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING sTANDARDs (CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of Statement of financial position as at May 1, 2010 (date of transition to IFRS):

Notes
CDN 

GAAP
IFRS 

Adjustments
IFRS 

Reclass IFRS

Assets
Current assets
   Cash $  133,755 $  - $  - $  133,755 
   Instruments held for trading  11,274  -  -  11,274 
   Trade and other receivables  48,988  -  -  48,988 
   Inventories   91,745  -  -  91,745 
   Income tax receivable  3,850  -  -  3,850 

$  289,612 $  - $  - $  289,612 

Property, plant and equipment 1 $  39,768 $  1,560 $  - $  41,328 
Goodwill   14,584  -  -  14,584 
Intangible assets   1,823  -  -  1,823 

$  345,787 $  1,560 $  - $  347,347 

liabilities
Current liabilities
   Trade and other payables 2,9 $  23,899 $  - $  (2,247) $  21,652 
   Provisions 2  -  253  886  1,139 
   Deferred revenue 9  -  -  1,361  1,361 
   Current portion of long term debt  388  -  -  388 
   Deferred taxes 7  1,164  -  (1,164)  - 

$  25,451 $  253 $  (1,164) $  24,540 

Long term debt $  2,732 $  - $  - $  2,732 
Deferred taxes  1,2,5,7  4,027  704  1,164  5,895 

$  32,210 $  957 $  - $  33,167 

Non-controlling interest 6  1,408  -  (1,408)  - 

Equity
Capital stock  $  51,035 $  - $  - $  51,035 
Contributed surplus  8  12,828  (645)  -  12,183 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss  12  (4,459)  4,459  -  - 
Retained earnings 1,2,8,12  252,765  (3,211)  -  249,554 

$  248,306 $  1,248 $  - $  249,554 

Total equity attributable to shareholders  312,169  603  -  312,772 
Non-controlling Interest 6  -  -  1,408  1,408 

 312,169  603  1,408  314,180 
$  345,787 $  1,560  $  - $  347,347 



notEs to consolidAtEd finAnciAl stAtEmEnts (CONT’D)
Years ended April 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for “number of common shares” and “number of options”)
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24. FIRsT-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING sTANDARDs (CONTINUED)
 Reconciliation of equity as at April 30, 2011 and May 1, 2010:

Notes April 30, 2011 May 1, 2010

Total equity under Canadian GAAP $  371,704 $ 312,169 

Adjustments
   Property, plant and equipment 1  887  1,560 
   Provisions 2  (320)  (253)
   Long-term projects 3  928  - 
   Business combinations 4  (172)  - 
   Translation of income tax 5  -  - 
   Non-controlling interest 6  1,550  1,408 
   Functional currency 10,11  (219)  - 

 2,654  2,715 
Tax effect of the above adjustments  (599)  (704)
Total adjustment to equity  2,055  2,011 

Total equity under IFRSs $ 373,759 $ 314,180 

Reconciliation of comprehensive income for year ended April 30, 2011:

Notes Year-ended April 30, 2011

Total comprehensive income under Canadian GAAP $ 78,000 

Adjustments
   Property, plant and equipment 1  (674)
   Provisions 2  (67)
   Long-term projects 3  928 
   Business combinations 4  (172)
   Translation of income tax 5  - 
   Non-controlling interest 6  542 
   Share based payments 8  252 
   Functional currency 10,11  (219)

 590 
Tax effect of the above adjustments  106 
Total adjustment to comprehensive income  696 

Total comprehensive income under IFRSs $ 78,696 
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24. FIRsT-TIME ADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING sTANDARDs (CONTINUED)
Notes to the financial statement reconciliations

(1) The Company has retroactively applied IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, which requires the Company to identify the significant components 
of its property, plant and equipment and depreciate these parts separately over their respective useful lives. The impact of the retroactive 
application of the increased componentization has resulted in an increase in the net book value of property, plant and equipment, and retained 
earnings at the date of transition and an increase in subsequent amortization expense. 

(2) IAS 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, requires separate disclosure of provisions on the face of the statement of 
financial position. This was not required under previous Canadian GAAP; therefore, all provisions were reclassified from accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities upon transition. Additionally, provisions as at May 1, 2010, as reported under Canadian GAAP, were re-assessed in accordance 
with the provisions of IAS 37. As a result of measurement differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS, the Company increased its provision for 
site restoration costs. 

(3) IAS 11, Construction Contracts, requires revenues on projects which meet the definition of a construction contract to be measured using the 
percentage of completion method. The Company has identified certain long-term contracts which meet the definition of construction contracts for 
which no revenues were previously recognized until shipment and transfer of title to customers were completed. The recognition method relating 
to these contracts has been restated to reflect the percentage of completion method.

(4) The Company has elected under IFRS 1 not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to business combinations that occurred prior to May 1, 2010. 
Accordingly, the Company has continued with the same accounting treatment for business combinations completed before that time under 
Canadian GAAP. For all business combinations that occurred on and subsequent to May 1, 2010 all business acquisitions were accounted for in 
accordance with IFRS 3.  Under IFRS 3 all acquisition related transaction costs are expensed as incurred, as opposed to Canadian GAAP where 
the costs are capitalized during the purchase price allocation. Acquisitions during the year ended April 30, 2011 resulted in $172 in acquisition 
related transaction costs.

(5) IAS 12, Income Taxes, requires net deferred income tax assets and liabilities to be adjusted for the tax effects of revaluating foreign currency 
denominated non-monetary balances held by entities where the functional currency is different than the local tax currency. As this was not a 
requirement under Canadian GAAP, an adjustment is required upon transition. 

(6) Under IFRS, any liabilities or assets relating to a non-controlling interest are required to be classified as equity and presented separately from 
the equity attributable to shareholders of the Company. As such, the liabilities associated with the non-controlling interest have been reclassified 
within the statement of financial position.

(7) Under IFRS all deferred tax balances are required to be classified as non-current, regardless of the classifications of the underlying assets or 
liabilities, or the expected reversal date of the temporary differences. The reclassification of all deferred tax balances to non-current also impacts 
the netting of deferred tax assets and liabilities within or between the taxable entities of the Company. 

(8) Under IFRS future forfeiture rates relating to the percentage of options that will not vest must be estimated and recorded as a reduction in 
stock compensation expense. Under Canadian GAAP forfeitures are recognized and used as a reduction in the expense as incurred. As such, 
the Company has retroactively estimated forfeiture rates for all options vesting subsequent to the translation date and retroactively adjusted 
cumulative stock compensation expense.

(9) Given the change in guidance noted above under IAS 11, Construction Contracts, and other factors, deferred revenue has been determined to be 
a material balance requiring segregation on the balance sheet. As such, deferred revenue has been reclassified from accounts payable to its own 
line item.

(10) Under the requirements of IAS 21, the Company is required to assess the functional currency of all subsidiary entities no matter where the entity 
resides. Upon the review upon transition it was concluded a subsidiary previously accounted for as an integrated operation has a functional 
currency different from the parent. The impact of the adjustment has resulted in the reclassification of prior year foreign exchange adjustments 
from foreign exchange expense to the cumulative translation adjustment within comprehensive income.

(11) Under the requirements of IAS 21, the Company is required to assess the functional currency of all subsidiary entities no matter where the entity 
resides. Upon transition it was concluded an entity previously accounted for as a self-sustaining operation has a functional currency consistent 
with the parent.  As noted under discussions related to IFRS 3, the Company has taken the IFRS 3 exemption to maintain goodwill at its historical 
cost. The impact of the adjustment has resulted in an adjustment of goodwill ensuring it is maintained at its historical translation rate as opposed 
to the spot rate used under Canadian GAAP.

(12) As noted under discussions relating to IAS 21, the Company has elected to apply the IFRS 1 election allowing for the resetting of the cumulative 
translation adjustment balance as at May 1, 2010 to zero. 

Reconciliation of consolidated cash flows
There are no material differences between the statement of cash flows presented under IFRS and the statement of 
cash flows under Canadian GAAP.

25. sUBsEQUENT EVENT
On june 13, 2012 the Company declared a dividend of $0.14 with a record date of june 22, 2012 and a payment date 
of june 29, 2012.

notEs to consolidAtEd finAnciAl stAtEmEnts (CONT’D)
Years ended April 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for “number of common shares” and “number of options”)
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notEs to consolidAtEd finAnciAl stAtEmEnts (CONT’D)
Years ended April 30, 2012 and 2011 (in thousands of Canadian dollars, except for “number of common shares” and “number of options”)

Consolidated Statement of Earnings Data

Year Ended April 30,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Sales $ 293,400 $ 309,259 $ 286,455 $ 315,905 $ 272,505 
Selling and administrative expenses  47,118  37,583 36,118  35,907  26,681 
Research and development expenses  44,200  35,719  32,026  28,719  18,629 
Earnings before income taxes  81,840  108,346  90,275  139,624  121,316 
Net earnings 59,956 78,259 61,481 100,717 87,294
Fully diluted EPS 0.81 1.04 0.83 1.36 1.17

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Year Ended April 30,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Cash and short term investments $ 185,669 $ 192,025 $ 145,029 $ 114,020 $  95,543 
Total assets  431,864  410,511  345,787  316,446  220,579 
Shareholder’s equity  378,417  372,209  312,169  268,376  188,220 
Number of common shares  
  outstanding
     Basic 73,225,786  74,470,606  73,607,506  73,105,406  72,277,206 
     Fully-diluted 77,904,086  78,577,206  77,703,006  77,208,006  76,398,206 

5-YEAr finAnciAl highlights
(all amounts in thousands, except share amounts)
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